
 

Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green 
 
Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB 
 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499 
 

 
 
 
 
 Please reply to:  

Contact: Chris Curtis 
Service: Committee Services 
Direct line: 01784 446240 
E-mail: c.curtis@spelthorne.gov.uk 
Date: 21 December 2020 

 
 

Notice of meeting 
 
 

Planning Committee  
 
 

Date: 

 

Wednesday, 6 January 2021 

Time: 

 

Call Over Meeting - 6.00 pm 

 

The Call Over meeting will deal with administrative matters for the Planning Committee 
meeting. Please see guidance note on reverse 

 

Committee meeting – Immediately upon the conclusion of the Call Over Meeting 

 

Place: 

 

Video Conference 

 
To the members of the Planning Committee 
 
Councillors: 
 
T. Lagden (Chairman) 
M. Gibson (Vice-Chairman) 
C. Bateson 
S.A. Dunn 
A.C. Harman 
 

H. Harvey 
N. Islam 
J. McIlroy 
R.J. Noble 
R.W. Sider BEM 
 

V. Siva 
R.A. Smith-Ainsley 
B.B. Spoor 
J. Vinson 
 

Councillors are reminded to notify Committee Services of any Gifts and Hospitality offered 
to you since the last Council meeting so that these may be entered in the Gifts and 
Hospitality Declaration book.  
 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


 
 

 

Call Over Meeting 

Guidance Note  

The Council will organise a meeting immediately prior to the Planning Committee meeting  
(a “Call Over”) which will deal with the following administrative matters for the Committee:  
 

 Ward councillor speaking 

 Public speakers 

 Declarations of interests 

 Late information 

 Withdrawals 

 Changes of condition  

 any other procedural issues which in the opinion of the Chairman ought to be dealt 
with in advance of the meeting. 

 

The Call-Over will be organised by Officers who will be present. Unless there are 
exceptional circumstances, the meeting will be held in the same room planned for the 
Committee.  The Chairman of the Planning Committee will preside at the Call-Over. The 
Call-Over will take place in public and Officers will advise the public of the proceedings at 
the meeting.  Public speaking at the Call-Over either in answer to the Chairman’s 
questions or otherwise will be at the sole discretion of the Chairman and his ruling on all 
administrative matters for the Committee will be final. 
 

Councillors should not seek to discuss the merits of a planning application or any other 
material aspect of an application during the Call-Over. 

Planning Committee meeting 

Start times of agenda items 

It is impossible to predict the start and finish time of any particular item on the agenda. It 
may happen on occasion that the Chairman will use his discretion to re-arrange the 
running order of the agenda, depending on the level of public interest on an item or the 
amount of public speaking that may need to take place.  This may mean that someone 
arranging to arrive later in order to only hear an item towards the middle or the end of the 
agenda, may miss that item altogether because it has been "brought forward" by the 
Chairman, or because the preceding items have been dealt with more speedily than 
anticipated.  Therefore, if you are anxious to make certain that you hear any particular item 
being debated by the Planning Committee, it is recommended that you arrange to attend 
from the start of the meeting.   
 
Background Papers 
For the purposes of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the following 
documents are to be regarded as standard background papers in relation to all items: 

 Letters of representation from third parties 

 Consultation replies from outside bodies 

 Letters or statements from or on behalf of the applicant 
 



 
 

 

 

 AGENDA  

  Page nos. 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for non-attendance. 
 

 

2.   Minutes 5 - 22 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2020 as a 
correct record. 
 

 

3.   Disclosures of Interest  

 To receive any disclosures of interest from councillors under the 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct, or contact with applicants/objectors under 
the Planning Code. 
 

 

 Planning Applications and other Development Control matters  

 To consider and determine the planning applications and other 
development control matters detailed in the reports listed below. 
 

 

4.   Planning Application No. 20/00802/FUL - Car Park to rear of Tesco, 
Ashford Hospital, London Road, Ashford, TW15 3AA 

23 - 74 

 Ward 
Ashford North and Stanwell South 
 
Proposal 
Redevelopment of surplus hospital car park for 127 residential units 
comprising 122 flats and 5 terraced houses, in buildings ranging from 2 
to 5 storeys in height, with associated access, parking, services, 
facilities and amenity space. 
 
Officer Recommendation 
The application is recommended for approval subject to the prior 
completion of a Legal Agreement. 
 

 

5.   Planning Application No. 20/00876/HOU - 18 Riverside Close, 
Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW 

75 - 92 

 Ward 
Riverside and Laleham 
 
Proposal 
The erection of a new boundary wall and gate at the western boundary. 
 
Officer recommendation 
The application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 
 

 



 
 

 

6.   Planning Appeals Report 93 - 126 

 To note details of the Planning appeals submitted and decisions 
received between 1 October and 9 December 2020. 
 

 

 



 
 

 
 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
11 November 2020 

 
Present: 

Councillor T. Lagden (Chairman) 
Councillor M. Gibson (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors: 

C. Bateson 

S.A. Dunn 

N.J. Gething 

A.C. Harman 

H. Harvey 

 

N. Islam 

J. McIlroy 

R.J. Noble 

R.W. Sider BEM 

V. Siva 

 

R.A. Smith-Ainsley 

B.B. Spoor 

J. Vinson 

 

Apologies: There were no apologies. 

 
In Attendance: 
Councillors who are not members of the Committee, but attended the meeting 
are set out below:  
 

Councillor M.M. Attewell  
Councillor K.M. Grant  
Councillor V.J. Leighton  

 

264/20   Minutes  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 14 October 2020 were approved as a 
correct record. 
 

265/20   Disclosures of Interest  
 

a) Disclosures of interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
Councillor M. Gibson declared a pecuniary interest in relation to items 5 and 6 
on the agenda, as she owned a nearby property, and left the meeting when 
those items were considered. 
 
b) Declarations of interest under the Council’s Planning Code 
 
Councillors C. Bateson, S. Dunn, N. Gething, M. Gibson, T. Harman, H. 
Harvey, N. Islam, T. Lagden, J. McIlroy, R. Noble, R.W. Sider BEM, V. Siva, 
R. A. Smith-Ainsley, B. Spoor and J. Vinson reported that they had received 
correspondence in relation to application 20/00123/OUT but had maintained 
an impartial role, had not expressed any views and had kept an open mind.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

Councillors Gething and Islam had also received telephone calls in relation to 
this application and Councillors Noble and Sider had visited the site. 
 
Councillors S. Dunn and V. Siva had received correspondence relating to 
applications 20/00874/RVC and 20/00876/HOU and Councillor R.W. Sider 
had visited the site.  All had maintained an impartial role, had not expressed 
any views and had kept an open mind.   
 

266/20   Planning Application No. 20/00123/OUT - Bugle Nurseries, Upper 
Halliford Road, Shepperton, TW17 8SN  
 

Description: 
Outline application with all matters reserved other than 'access' for the 
retention of existing dwelling and demolition of all other existing buildings and 
structures and the redevelopment of the site for up to 31 dwellings along with 
the provision of public open space and other associated works for 
landscaping, parking areas, pedestrian, cycle and vehicular routes. 
 
Additional Information: 
The Senior Planning Officer advised the Committee that: 
 
The applicant had provided the Council with 17 Cards with no names or 
addresses, in support of the application.  All the responders had ticked the 
box in support of the application and 14 had written additional comments but 
there were no new issues to report. 
 
The updates below were reported previously when the application was heard 
at Committee in September 2020 and were still relevant to note:- 
 
In the report in reference to the planning history for application reference 
19/01022/OUT needs to be updated to refer to an appeal having been lodged 
and we are awaiting a start letter’. 
 
Paragraph 7.1 to be amended to read as follows: 
 
In 2017, the applicant made a formal request to the Council’s Strategic 
Planning section for the entire Bugle Nurseries site to be allocated for housing 
in the proposed new Local Plan (in response to the Council’s “Call for Sites” 
exercise). The applicant submitted two separate plans to illustrate the 
development potential of the site. The first plan showed a scheme similar to 
the 2018 refused application (18/00591/OUT) with the new housing and care 
home located towards the eastern side of the site. The second plan showed a 
larger scheme covering the whole of the Bugle Nurseries site comprising 116 
dwellings and a care home. The area is classified as ‘strongly performing’ in 
the Council’s Borough-wide Green Belt Assessment 2017 Stage 1 and 
therefore the site was considered unsuitable for development. As such the 
site has been was classified within the Council’s updated 2018 Strategic Land 
Available Assessment (SLAA) as ‘not developable’ (see Need for Housing 
below). It is relevant to note that the site has also been considered unsuitable 
for development in the Green Belt Assessment Stage 2 published in 

Page 6



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

December 2018. The Assessment states that the Sub-Area 396 (which covers 
the site) plays a fundamental role with respect to the wider Green Belt Local 
Area, and its release would harm the performance and integrity of the wider 
strategic Green Belt. 
 
Paragraph 7.5 to be amended to refer to the latest Housing Delivery Test 
Action Plan approved September 2020 and the amended figure of 60%. 
 
In addition, a letter received in response to the planning committee report 
from Montagu Evans noting the following:- 
 
1 Sustainabilty 
-The site is sustainable as it is urban in character and is well related to 
established urban area, infrastructure and public transport.  
- The previously developed part of the site should be prioritised for release 
ahead of any undeveloped Green Belt land.  
-The site is clearly defined in 2 parts with the east as previously developed 
commercial site and the west undeveloped and forms part of wider area of 
strongly performing Green Belt. This is as set out in the background analysis 
of the site in the Stage 2 Green Belt Review and also the Local Plan Preferred 
Options Rejected Site Analysis 
-The proposal relates to the redevelopment of the already urbanised eastern 
area and improvement to open Green Belt to the west. 
  
2. Impact on openness of Green Belt 
-the report incorrectly assesses the impact on the openness of the Green Belt 
purely by comparison to the existing buildings on the site, which is an unduly 
narrow assessment and does not accord with case law or the National 
Planning Policy Guidance. 
-all aspects of the existing site which currently detract from the openness of 
the Green Belt must be considered, including existing buildings and their 
curtilages, boundary treatment and substantial areas of purpose built 
hardstanding with associated lighting and other paraphernalia, site 
topography, established trees and landscaping 
 
3. Permissible Degree of Impact 
The applicant considers that because the proposal would provide affordable 
housing that the relevant consideration is whether the scheme has a 
substantial impact on openness of the Green Belt, rather than the previous 
scheme which was assessed as ‘no greater impact’, and is therefore a lower 
threshold 
 
4. Reasonable conclusion 
- The current scheme is substantially smaller than the previous scheme, 
against the visual and spatial impact that the existing industrial activities have 
on the openness of the Green Belt, when taken as a whole Therefore this is a 
lower threshold (noted above) and together these factors means that the 
Committee is entitled to come to a view that the development is appropriate in 
the Green Belt. 
 

Page 7



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

5. Tilted balance 
This can be applied when development is considered to be appropriate or 
when Very Special Circumstances outweigh any harm to openness. 
Committee is entitled to conclude that the presumption in favour of granting 
planning permission applies on the basis that the harm would not be 
substantial and there are Very Special Circumstances which support the 
proposal in any event. 
 
6. Very Special Circumstances (VSC) 
VSC are material considerations in weighing up the merit of the proposal 
against the degree of any perceived harm to the Green Belt. Committee 
should be aware that it would only need one material consideration of 
sufficient weight to support the application. The weight for providing housing 
and affordable housing is sufficient in its own right to outweigh any concerns 
regarding the impact on the Green Belt. Officers give weight to the removal of 
the industrial operations which give rise to noise and disturbance which adds 
to the VSC in favour of the development. 
- Highlight that case law has clarified that circumstances do not have to be 
uncommon or special and there are no restrictions on what might be regarded 
as such a consideration. 
-Contrary to this, Officers give no weight to remediation of contaminated land 
and public support for the application on the basis that they are not unique. 
 
Public Speaking:  
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Mr. 
Good spoke for the proposed development raising the following key points: 
 

 The comparison of Green Belt impact in the officer’s presentation was 
misleading and did not reflect the existing site condition compared to the 
proposed development 

 Is a low density residential development more or less harmful than the 
current industrial estate to the Green Belt? 

 Removal of industrial activity would be a substantial benefit 

 Provision of public open space would be substantial benefit 

 Permanent removal of the waste transfer station and provision of open 
space would be an improvement and a substantial benefit 

 Regeneration benefits would be substantial rather than limited in 
economic, social and physical terms, providing jobs, new homes and 
environmental remediation 
 

A motion to approve the planning application was proposed and seconded as 
follows: 
 
This Planning Committee resolves to approve the application on the grounds 
that the committee considers very special circumstances exist to clearly 
outweigh the substantial harm to the Green Belt, the application will need to 
be referred to the Secretary of State as a Departure from the Local Plan in 
accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) 
Direction 2009. If the Secretary of State decides not to call the application in 

Page 8



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

to determine himself, the application should be subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
(A) To GRANT outline planning permission for 31 homes to be built as per 

the Application, subject to the applicant first entering into an 
appropriate legal agreement in respect of the following: 

 
1. To provide at least 15 affordable housing units on-site built in 

accordance with current Home England Standards, the details of 
which shall be agreed with the Council’s Planning Development 
Manager.  

• The split of the type of affordable housing shall be at least 10 for 
affordable rent and at least 5 dwellings for shared ownership. 
The rent levels for the affordable rent should not exceed 80% of 
the market rent, and in any event the relevant Local Housing 
Allowance rate in use at the time of handover to a Registered 
Provider. The shared ownership units shall be delivered 
accordance with the relevant Help to Buy scheme in use at the 
time of handover to a Registered Provider. The mandatory 
minimum share for initial purchases should not exceed 25%.  

• Prior to implementation the Registered Provider shall enter into 
a Nominations Agreement in respect of the affordable housing 
(in order that the social housing meets local needs).  

• Build and complete the affordable units and hand over to the 
Registered Provider for occupation before no more than 50% of 
the open market units are sold or substantially completed, 
whichever is the sooner.  

 
2. To secure public access and maintenance of the public open 

space in perpetuity, details to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. The applicant will be required to remove any 
contaminated material from the open space area and carry out 
necessary remediation works in accordance with a scheme to 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to 
any works taking place in respect of the residential 
development.  

 
In the event that the Section 106 Agreement is not completed  
In the event that the Section 106 agreement is not completed to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority and/or the applicant does not 
agree an extension of time for the determination of the planning application, 
delegate to the Planning Development Manager in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Planning Committee the following: REFUSE the planning 
application for the following reasons:  
 

1.  The development represents inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt for which no very special circumstances have been 
demonstrated. It will result in the site having a more urban 
character, will diminish the openness of the Green Belt and 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it. In particular, 

Page 9



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

it would not comply with the Green Belt purposes: to check the 
unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas, and to prevent 
neighbouring towns merging together. It is therefore contrary to 
Saved Policy GB1 of the Spelthorne Borough Local Plan 2001 
and Section 13 (Protecting Green Belt Land) of the 
Government's National Planning Policy Framework 2019.  

 
2. The development fails to provide a satisfactory provision of 
affordable housing to meet the Borough’s housing needs, 
contrary to Policy HO3 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 
2009.  

 
 
8.2 (B) In the event that the Section 106 agreement is completed to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority; GRANT subject to the following 
conditions:-  
 

1.  That in the case of those matters in respect of which details 
have not been given in the application and which concern the: -  
(a)  the Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale; 
hereinafter called "the reserved matters", and which are hereby 
reserved for subsequent approval by the Local Planning 
Authority, application for such approval shall be made to the 
Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.  

  
(b) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 

the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 
the last of the reserved matters to be approved.  

 
Reason:- This condition is required by Section 92 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2.  Before any work on the development hereby permitted is first 

commenced detailed drawings be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority to show: -  
(i) Appearance  
(ii) Landscaping  
(iii) Layout  
(iv) Scale 

 
Reason:- 

 
(a) This is an outline application permitted in accordance with the 
provision of Article 5(1) of the Town and County Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order, 2015. 

 
(b) To ensure the proposed development does not prejudice the 
appearance of the locality. 

Page 10



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

 
3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and drawings 
 

F0001 Rev. P1; F0100 Rev. P1; F0300 Rev. P1; F0500 Rev. P1; 
F1001 Rev. P1; D0100 Rev. P1; D0103 Rev. P1; D0120 Rev. P1; 
D0300 Rev. P1; D0500 Rev. P1; D1002 Rev. P1; D1100 Rev. P1; 
C0100 Rev. P1 received 03 February 2020.  

 
Reason:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning  

 
4. No development shall take place until:- 

 
(a)  A comprehensive desk-top study, carried out to identify 

and evaluate all potential sources and impacts of land 
and/or groundwater contamination relevant to the site, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

(b)  Where any such potential sources and impacts have 
been identified, a site investigation has been carried out 
to fully characterise the nature and extent of any land 
and/or groundwater contamination and its implications. 
The site investigation shall not be commenced until the 
extent and methodology of the site investigation have 
been agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

 
(c)  A written method statement for the remediation of land 

and/or groundwater contamination affecting the site shall 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the commencement of remediation. The method 
statement shall include an implementation timetable and 
monitoring proposals, and a remediation verification 
methodology.  

 
The site shall be remediated in accordance with the approved 
method statement, with no deviation from the statement without 
the express written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:-  
To protect the amenities of future residents and the environment 
from the effects of potentially harmful substances.  

 
NOTE  
The requirements of the above Condition must be carried out in 
accordance with current best practice. The applicant is therefore 
advised to contact Spelthorne's Pollution Control team on 01784 
446251 for further advice and information before any work 
commences. An information sheet entitled "Land Affected By 
Contamination: Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning 

Page 11



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

Requirements" proving guidance can also be downloaded from 
Spelthorne's website at www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

 
In accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne 
Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009.  

 
5.  Prior to the first use or occupation of the development, and on  

completion of the agreed contamination remediation works, a 
validation report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:- To protect the amenities of future residents and the 
environment from the effects of potentially harmful substances. 

 
6. No development shall commence until a report has been 

submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority which 
includes details and drawings demonstrating how 10% of the 
energy requirements generated by the development as a whole 
will be achieved utilising renewable energy methods and 
showing in detail the estimated sizing of each of the contributing 
technologies to the overall percentage. The detailed report shall 
identify how renewable energy, passive energy and efficiency 
measures will be generated and utilised for each of the 
proposed buildings to meet collectively the requirement for the 
scheme. The agreed measures shall be implemented with the 
construction of each building and thereafter retained and 
maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 
unless otherwise agreed in writing.  

 
Reason:- To ensure that the development is sustainable and 
complies with Policy SP7 and CC1 of the Spelthorne 
Development Plan Core Strategy and Policies DPD.  

 
7. Before the first occupation of any part of the development, a 

landscape management plan including long-term design 
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules for all landscaped areas shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.  

 
Reason:- To minimise the loss of visual amenity occasioned by 
the development and to enhance the proposed development.  

 
8. The development hereby approved shall not be commenced 

unless and until the proposed vehicular access to Upper 
Halliford Road has been provided with visibility zones in 
accordance with Drawing Number MBSK200108-04 P1 and 

Page 12

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/


 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

thereafter the visibility zones shall be kept permanently clear of 
any obstruction measured from 0.6m above the road surface.  

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the 
development should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users. 

 
9. During and after the construction of the development hereby 

approved, there shall be no means of vehicular access from the 
site to Upper Halliford Road over the existing access at the 
northern boundary of the site.  

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the 
development should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users.  

 
10. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied 

unless and until space has been laid out within the site in 
accordance with the approved plans for vehicles to be parked 
and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave the site 
in forward gear. Thereafter the parking and turning areas shall 
be retained and maintained for their designated purposes.  

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the 
development should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users.  

 
11.  No development shall commence until a Construction Transport 

Management Plan, to include details of:  
(a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors  
(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials  
(c) storage of plant and materials  
(d) programme of works (including measures for traffic 
management)  
(e) provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones  
(f) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway  
(g) on-site turning for construction vehicles  
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Only the approved details shall be 
implemented during  
the construction of the development.  

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the 
development should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users.  

 
12. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied 

unless and until a pedestrian crossing facility to improve the 
safety of pedestrians crossing Upper Halliford Road has been 

Page 13



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

provided in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the 
development should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause 
inconvenience to other highway users.  

 
13.  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied 

unless and until at least 25 of the proposed parking spaces have 
been provided with a fast charge socket (current minimum 
requirements - 7 kw Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 
Amp single phase dedicated supply) for the charging of electric 
vehicles in accordance with a scheme to be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
thereafter retained and maintained to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason:- The above condition is required in recognition of 
Section 4 (Promoting Sustainable Transport) of the NPPF  

 
14.  The development hereby permitted shall not commence until 

details of the design of a surface water drainage scheme have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the planning 
authority. The design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and be 
compliant with the national Non-Statutory Technical Standards 
for SuDS, NPPF and Ministerial Statement on SuDS. The 
required drainage details shall include: 

 
a) The results of infiltration testing completed in accordance 

with BRE Digest: 365 in the location of proposed 
soakaways and confirmation of groundwater levels.  

 
b)  Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively 

manage the 1 in 30 & 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for 
climate change) storm events and 10% allowance for 
urban creep, during all stages of the development.  

 
c)  Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to 

include: a finalised drainage layout detailing the location 
of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, and long 
and cross sections of each element including details of 
any flow restrictions and maintenance/risk reducing 
features (silt traps, inspection chambers etc.).  

 
d)  A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall 

greater than design events or during blockage) and how 
property on and off site will be protected.  

 
e) Details of drainage management responsibilities and 

maintenance regimes for the drainage system.  

Page 14



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

 
f) Details of how the drainage system will be protected 

during construction and how runoff (including any 
pollutants) from the development site will be managed 
before the drainage system is operational.  

 
Reason: To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for SuDS and the final drainage design 
does not increase flood risk on or off site.  

 
15.  Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification 

report carried out by a qualified drainage engineer must be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This 
must demonstrate that the drainage system has been 
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor 
variations), provide the details of any management company 
and state the national grid reference of any key drainage 
elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow 
restriction devices and outfalls).  

 
Reason:- To ensure the Drainage System is constructed to the 
National Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS.  

 
16.  The precautionary measures to safeguard bats during 

demolition shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
recommended safeguarding measures in the Aspect Ecology 
Technical Briefing Note June 2020.  

 
Reason:- In the interest of safeguarding bats on the site.  

 
17. Prior to the construction of the buildings, a biodiversity 

enhancement scheme to be implemented on the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The biodiversity enhancement measures shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and 
thereafter maintained.  

 
Reason:- To encourage wildlife on the site.  

 
18. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning General Permitted Development Order 2015 (or any 
order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no extensions or 
other form of enlargement to the residential development hereby 
permitted, nor erection of porches, outbuildings, hardstandings, 
storage tanks, gates, fences, walls or other means of enclosure, 
shall take place without the prior planning permission of the 
Local Planning Authority.  

  

Page 15



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

Reason:- To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring properties 
and in the interest of safeguarding the openness of the Green 
Belt.  

 
19.  No properties shall be occupied until confirmation has been 

provided that either:- 1. Capacity exists off site to serve the 
development, or 2. A housing and infrastructure phasing plan 
has been agreed with Thames Water. Where a housing and 
infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take 
place other than in accordance with the agreed housing and 
infrastructure phasing plan, or 3. All wastewater network 
upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from the 
development have been completed.  

 
Reason:- Network reinforcement works may be required to 
accommodate the proposed development. Any reinforcement 
works identified will be necessary in order to avoid sewage 
flooding and/or potential pollution incidents. The developer can 
request information to support the discharge of this condition by 
visiting the Thames Water website at 
thameswater.co.uk/preplanning. 

 
20.  The residential dwellings and their gardens hereby approved 

shall be confined entirely to within the Development Zone shown 
on approved Parameter Plan D1002 Rev. P1. 

 
Reason:- In the interest of safeguarding the openness of the 
Green Belt.  

 
21.  The public open space hereby approved shall be made 

permanently available and accessible to members of the public 
364 days per calendar year from 08:00 to 20:00 hours, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

 
Reason:- To ensure that the public open space is made 
permanently available to the public. 

 
We have considered that this application is inappropriate development, but 
consideration of the benefits and the harms to the Green Belt mean that this 
amounts to very special circumstances. 
 
We draw particular attention of the Material Considerations and Harm 
identified in clauses 3.3 and 7.4 of the report. 
 
We contend the following weighting should be attributed to these arguments 
 
Benefits put forward by the applicant. 
Housing delivery – Significant weight 
Removal of bad neighbours – Significant weight 
Remediation of the contaminated land – Moderate weight 

Page 16



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

Regeneration of the site – Moderate weight 
Provision of public open space – Limited weight 
Local community view – Significant weight 
The proposal does not conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt – 
Moderate weight 
 
Harm identified in the Officer Report 
 
Inappropriate Development – Moderate weight 
Loss of Openness – Limited weight 
Harm to the visual amenities of the Green Belt – Moderate weight 
Conflict with 2 of the 5 purposes of the Green Belt in the NPPF – No weight 
 
Having considered the weightings above, we consider planning permission 
should be granted. 
 
Debate: 
During the debate the following key issues were raised: 
 

 Query over procedural matters on voting by the members of the Planning 
Committee  

 Query on the decision of the Planning Committee on 16/09/20, the 
application was approved.  Officer note: the vote to refuse was not carried 
and the application was deferred to give committee members appropriate 
time to draft a suitable motion in support of the application. 

 The Planning Committee agreed to defer the planning application on 
16/09/20 

 Development will benefit local residents 

 Enforcement action has not been taken previously (officer note: 
enforcement action had been taken where possible) 

 Re-use of buildings complies with NPPF  

 Will not have a materially greater impact than existing 

 Inappropriate development within the Green Belt 

 Development is not contrary to the five purposes of the Green Belt 

 Proposal is morally wrong 

 Significant weight should be given to the Green Belt advice in the NPPF 

 If approved will have a significant impact on the emerging local plan by 
weakening the Green Belt on a strategic level 

 There are no very special circumstances to justify building housing on the 
Green Belt 

 Waste transfer site is just a bund with earth and rubble, not industrial 
waste 

 The owner could clear the site without developing 

 The site is with a commercial area 

 The railway line will prevent urban sprawl 

 Development has been approved previously on the Shepperton Studios 
site which is within the Green Belt 

 Affordable housing is being proposed which is needed 

 The site should be used to benefit our communities 

Page 17



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

 Site is an eyesore 

 Neighbour support – no weighting has been given to objectors’ views 
 
A recorded vote was requested by Councillor Smith-Ainsley. The voting was 
as follows: 
 

For (7) N. Gething, M. Gibson, T. Harman, N. Islam, J. McIlroy, R. 
Noble, R.W. Sider BEM,  

Against (8) C. Bateson, S. Dunn, H. Harvey, V. Siva, R.A. Smith-
Ainsley, B. Spoor, J. Vinson, T. Lagden 

Abstain (0)  

 
The vote to approve the application in accordance with the above motion was 
not carried. 
 
A motion to refuse the planning application as set out in the officer’s report 
was proposed by Councillor Smith-Ainsley and seconded by Councillor H. 
Harvey and agreed by the Committee. 
 
Decision: 
The application was refused for the following reason: 
 
The development represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt for 
which no very special circumstances have been demonstrated. It will result in 
the site having a more urban character, will diminish the openness of the 
Green Belt and conflict with the purposes of including land within it. In 
particular, it would not comply with the Green Belt purposes: to check the 
unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas, and to prevent neighbouring towns 
merging together. It is therefore contrary to Saved Policy GB1 of the 
Spelthorne Borough Local Plan 2001 and Section 13 (Protecting Green Belt 
Land) of the Government's National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
Councillors J. McIlroy and V. Siva left the meeting at this point.   
 

267/20   Planning Application No. 20/00874/RVC - 18 Riverside Close, 
Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW  
 

Councillor M. Gibson had declared a pecuniary interest and left the meeting at 
this point. 
 
Description: 
The variation of Condition 2 (approved plans) imposed upon planning 
permission 19/00186/HOU, to allow for alterations to the garage to include an 
increase in eaves height, the installation of 4 roof lights and alterations to the 
proposed door and window openings. 
 
Additional Information: 
The Senior Planning Officer provided the following updates: 
 

Page 18



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

The Council had received an additional letter of representation which objected 
to item 5 and item 6.   
 
The letter raised concerns over access to a future garage granted under 
planning permission 19/01392/HOU and damage to parked cars (Officer Note: 
damage to cars is not a planning matter). 
 
Public Speaking:  
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, 
Councillor Harman spoke as Ward Councillor against the proposed 
development raising the following key points: 

 Constructed differently to original application size and characteristics 

 Objections would have been lodged if extra features had been known 

 Planning approved new plans ignoring objections (officer note: the 
application has not been approved, it is under consideration now) 

 Loss of privacy and overlooks nearby property 

 Window glass should be made opaque 

 Encroaches on private accessway 

 Measurements incorrect relating to private access 

 Building is not constructed in correct location (officer note: a visit has been 
made to the site and it is constructed in the position previously agreed) 

 
Debate: 
During the debate the following key issues were raised: 

 The garage has not been built in accordance with the approved plans 

 The proposal needs to be treated on its merits 

 Concern of overlooking from the windows in the garage 

 Obscured glass should be used in the roof light 

 Concern that the garage may be used as a residential unit 

 Concern over character of the area 

 Discussion on the location of the garage 
 
Decision: 
The application was approved as per the officer’s recommendation. 
 

268/20   Planning Application No. 20/00876/HOU - 18 Riverside Close, 
Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW  
 

Description: 
The erection of a new boundary wall and gate at the western boundary. 
 
Additional Information: 
The Senior Planning Officer provided the following updates: 
The Council had received an additional letter of representation which objected 
to item 5 and item 6.   
 
The letter raised concerns over access to a future garage granted under 
planning permission 19/01392/HOU and damage to parked cars (Officer note: 
damage to cars is not a planning matter). 

Page 19



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

 
Public Speaking:  
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Mr. 
Marks spoke against the proposed development raising the following key 
points: 

 Impacts on ability to use his property as previously 

 The wall is not in the same position, it has come forward 

 Plans encroach on areas which were not previously built on and narrow 
the road 

 Area outside 77 Thameside boundary fence is part of the title of the 
property and should allow 2 cars to park without obstruction 

 Very difficult to access the garage if cars are parked on verge opposite 

 Possible damage to cars parked on road if granted 

 Garage has been moved forward from original position 
 

In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, 
Councillor Harman spoke as Ward Councillor against the proposed 
development raising the following key points: 

 Incorrect points have been made by the Officer in the report  

 The wall and gate are unacceptable, and not in keeping with the 
character of the area 

 Private highway has been encroached 

 Independent vehicle tracking plan refutes that access to the garage will 
be possible  

 Formal pavement exists 

 Negative impact on access for emergency vehicles and utility vehicles 
is considered severe  

 
Debate: 
During the debate the following key issues were raised: 
• Development looks reasonable 
• Proposal replaces something similar 
• Concern over emergency vehicles being able to gain access 
• Trespass concerns over vehicles using other residents’ land 
• Concerns that a vehicle cannot enter the site 
• Concerns over exact location of the proposed wall and the gate 
 
It was proposed and seconded and the Committee agreed to defer the 
application to enable the officer to visit the site again and remeasure the wall. 
 
Decision: 
The application was deferred to enable the dimensions of the wall (in terms of 
setting out) to be checked on site. 
 
Councillor Gibson rejoined the meeting at this point. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
Planning Committee, 11 November 2020 - continued 

 

 
 

269/20   Planning Application 20/01035/HOU - 24 Wellington Road, 
Ashford, TW15 3RJ  
 

Description: 
Erection of a single storey side and rear extension 
 
Additional Information: 
There was none. 
 
Public Speaking:  
There were no public speakers. 
 
Debate: 
No key issues were raised. 
 
Decision: 
The application was approved as recommended. 
 

270/20   Urgent Items  
 

There were none. 
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Ashford Hospital

4

9
5

6

2

7

E
LLIE

 M
E
W
S

Fire

1j
1l

LON
DO

N R
OA

D

71

87

18

36

65

73

12

1e

38

1d

53

16

24

1a

Station

Play Area

Chestnut Court

92j

Greenaway
 Terrace

Health Centre

Court

25

23

26

10

13

28

554

West Plaza

92m

Tank

Lud
 Lod

ge

1 to 9

ESS

4

1

4

1

38

ESS

ESS

1

1

8

2

9

© Crowncopyright anddatabase rights 2019Ordnance Survey100024284. ¯Scale:1:2,500

19/01044/FULCar Park to rear ofTesco,Ashford Hospital,London Road,Ashford.

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee                             

6 January 2021 

 
 

Application Nos. 20/00802/FUL  

Site Address Car Park to Rear of Tesco, Ashford Hospital, London Road, Ashford, 
TW15 3AA 

Proposal Redevelopment of surplus hospital car park for 127 residential units 
comprising 122 flats and 5 terraced houses, in buildings ranging from 2 to 
5 storeys in height, with associated access, parking, services, facilities 
and amenity space. 

Applicant Spelthorne Borough Council 

Ward Ashford North & Stanwell South 

Call in details N/A 

Case Officers Matthew Churchill & Fiona Tebbutt 

Application Dates 
Valid: 15.07.2020 Expiry: 14.10.2020 

Target: Extension of 
time until 08.01.2021  

Executive 
Summary 

This planning application is seeking the redevelopment of a car park at 
the eastern end of Town Lane, which previously formed part of the 
Ashford Hospital site.  The car park has been sold by the hospital and is 
no longer in use, with hoarding having been erected along Town Lane.  In 
addition to the car park, the site is also occupied by three buildings which 
previously served as a nursery, which has relocated within the Ashford 
Hospital, as well as two ancillary hospital buildings.   
 
The application proposes the demolition of the existing buildings and the 
redevelopment of the car park, to provide 127 residential units in 
buildings ranging between 2 to 5 storeys in height.  The development also 
includes associated access, parking, facilities, landscaping and amenity 
space.  There would be 127 parking spaces at a ratio of 1 parking space 
per dwelling.  Following a review by the Local Planning Authority’s 
(LPA’s) independent viability assessor the applicant has made a 
commitment to providing 22 affordable housing units (17%) in an 
affordable rented tenure. 
 
The site is adjoined by established residential dwellings at the north, 
south and eastern boundaries.  The Tesco Superstore is adjacent to the 
western site boundary, with the loading and servicing area of the 
superstore directly adjoining the site.  The main Ashford Hospital site is 
located to the south west on the southern side of Town Lane.      
 
Vehicular access to the site is provided from Town Lane.  Pedestrian 
access is also available to Greenaway Terrace and Victory Close, 

Page 25



 
 

residential properties to the east.  A barrier installed as part of a previous 
planning permission to redevelop the hospital in 1992 prevents private 
vehicles from accessing Victory Close from the application site.  The 
applicant has confirmed that this barrier would remain in place following 
redevelopment and would be under the control of the NHS. 
 
The car park previously provided 113 car parking spaces for hospital staff 
and 8 car parking spaces for the former nursery use.  The applicant’s 
submission documents state that the operation of the hospital has 
recently changed, and the car park is no longer required.  The applicant’s 
documents further state that the existing parking demand for Ashford 
Hospital can be met in the main hospital car park, which contains a 
reconfigured layout.  In any event, the car park has been sold by the 
hospital and is no longer in use.   
 
The application is considered to be acceptable on the grounds of housing 
size and type, character and density, the impact upon existing residential 
dwellings, affordable housing, parking provision and highways.   
  

Recommended 
Decision 

 

This application is recommended for approval subject to the prior 
completion of a Legal Agreement. 

 

 MAIN REPORT 

1. Development Plan 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development 
Plan Document (CS&P DPD) 2009 are considered relevant to this proposal: 

➢ SP1 - Location of Development  

➢ LO1 - Flooding  

➢ SP2 - Housing Provision  

➢ HO1 - Providing for New Housing Development  

➢ HO3 - Affordable Housing  

➢ HO4 - Housing Size and Type  

➢ HO5 - Housing Density  

➢ EM1 - Employment Development 

➢ CO2 - Provision of Infrastructure for New Development  

➢ CO3 - Provision of Open Space for New Development 

➢ SP6 - Maintaining and Improving the Environment  

➢ EN1 - Design of New Development 

➢ EN3 - Air Quality  

➢ EN4 - Provision of Open Space and Sport and Recreation Facilities  

➢ EN7 – Tree Protection 

Page 26



 
 

➢ EN8 – Protecting and Improving the Landscape and Biodiversity 

➢ EN11 - Development and Noise 

➢ EN15 - Development on Land Affected by Contamination  

➢ CC1 - Renewable Energy, Energy Conservation and Sustainable   
Construction 

➢ CC2 - Sustainable Travel  

➢ CC3 - Parking Provision 

 

1.2 Also relevant is the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on the 
Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential Development, 2011, and 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019. 

 

2. Relevant Planning History 

2.1 The planning history below relates to the application site and also to nearby land 
that once formed part of the hospital site:  

19/01044/FUL Redevelopment of surplus 
hospital car park for 115 
residential units, comprising 
110 flats and 5 terraced 
houses, in buildings ranging 
from 2 to 5 storeys in height 
(C3 Use), with associated 
access, parking, services, 
facilities and amenity space. 
 

Withdrawn 
04.03.2020 

12/01037/RMA 
(Officer note: this 
application relates to 
nearby land that once 
formed part of the 
Ashford Hospital site) 

Reserved matters submission 
pursuant to Outline Planning 
Permission 08/01024/OUT: 
Demolition of existing buildings 
and erection of a part 3, 4, 5 
and 6 storey development 
comprising 152 residential 
units. Provision of basement 
car park and ground level 
parking spaces. 
 

Grant 
Conditional 
03.10.2012 

09/00076/FUL (Officer 
note: this was the main 
hospital car park) 

Reconfiguration of existing car 
park. 

Grant 
Conditional  
20.03.2009 
 

08/01024/OUT 
(Officer note: this 
application relates to 
nearby land that once 
formed part of the 
Ashford Hospital site) 

Demolition of existing buildings 
and erection of a part 3, 4, 5 
and 6 storey development 
comprising 152 residential 
units. Provision of basement 
car park and ground level 
parking spaces (OUTLINE). 

Grant 
Conditional 
26.08.2009 

Page 27



 
 

 

08/00615/FUL (Officer 
note: this was the main 
hospital car park) 

Reconfiguration of existing 
hospital car park. 

Grant 
Conditional  
02.09.2008 
 

02/00586/FUL  Relocation of existing creche 
nursery building from south 
east part of site to the rear of 
Tesco Superstore and 
alterations to car parking, to 
provide new parking throughout 
site.  

Grant 
Conditional 
28.08.2002 

92/00674/OUT Redevelopment of site for new 
and improved hospital use to 
include new  ward blocks, 
improved clinical departments; 
food superstore ;petrol filling 
station, associated car parking, 
servicing and access 
(OUTLINE). 
 

Grant 
Conditional 
16.06.1993 

92/00540/OUT Redevelopment of site for new 
& improved hospital use to 
include new Ward Blocks, 
improved Clinical Departments, 
Food Superstore, Petrol Filling 
Station, Associated Parking, 
Servicing and Access. 
 

Grant 
Conditional 
16.06.1993 

 
3. Description of Current Proposal 

 
The Application Site 
 

3.1 This planning application seeks the redevelopment of a car park that previously 
formed part of the Ashford Hospital site and is no longer in use.  The site is also 
occupied by five buildings, three of which formerly contained a children’s nursery 
that has been relocated within the main hospital site.  The remaining buildings 
were formerly in uses ancillary to Ashford Hospital.  Hoardings have recently been 
erected along Town Lane and the parking spaces are no longer accessible to 
vehicles.     
 

3.2 There are established residential dwellings at the north, south and eastern site 
boundaries.  A Tesco Superstore is situated directly to the west of the site, and its 
delivery and service yard adjoins the application site.  The main Ashford Hospital 
site is also situated to the south-west on the southern side of Town Lane. 
 

3.3 Vehicular access to the site is from Town Lane.  A barrier prevents private 
vehicles from entering the site from Greenaway Terrace and Victory Close from 
the application site.  This was installed as part of a planning permission to 
redevelop the hospital in 1992.  The applicant has confirmed that the barrier 
would remain following redevelopment and would continue to be under the control 

Page 28



 
 

of the NHS.  Whilst there is no private vehicular access to Victory Close and 
Greenaway Terrace pedestrian access is provided.   
 

3.4 The car park formerly provided 113 parking spaces for hospital staff and 8 further 
car parking spaces for the nursery use.  The applicant’s submission states that 
operations at the hospital have recently changed and the car park is no longer 
required as parking provision can be accommodated in the reconfigured main 
hospital car park.   
 

3.5 The site was previously subject to a further planning application to redevelop the 
car park, which was validated in August 2019 under the reference 19/01044/FUL.  
The previous proposal would have involved the construction of 115 residential 
units in buildings ranging from 2 to 5 storeys in height.  This application was 
withdrawn in March 2020.  
 
Surrounding Area 
 

3.6 There are established residential dwellings in Viola Avenue and Vernon Close 
situated to the north of the site.  These properties are typically ‘traditional’ two 
storey semi-detached or terraced dwellings.  Queen Mary Court, a three-storey 
flatted development, constructed in the early 2000s is also situated immediately to 
the north of the site and is accessed through Yeoman Drive.     
 

3.7 A row of two storey terraced dwellings are situated immediately to the east of the 
site in Greenaway Terrace.  These typically contain car parking at the front and 
gardens at the rear.  Victory Close and Yeoman Drive are also located 
immediately to the east and contain a number of two and three storey dwellings 
which are typically semi-detached or terraced in layout.  A number of three storey 
flatted developments also occupy Victory Close and Yeoman Drive, including 
Wheat House, Marquis Court and Barley Court.  
 

3.8 Immediately to the south of the site are Albain Crescent and Willowbrook Road, 
which are occupied by more ‘traditional semi-detached or terraced two storey 
family scale dwellings with garden spaces at the rear.  
 

3.9 A Tesco Superstore is located immediately to the west of the site, on the northern 
side of Town Lane.  This was constructed in the 1990s and the car park to the 
store is located further to the west, which incorporates a petrol station.  The 
service yard for the superstore is located to the rear and adjoins the application 
site on its western side. 
 

3.10 The main Ashford Hospital development is located to the south-west of the 
application site, on the southern side of Town Lane.  This contains buildings of up 
to four storeys in height, as well as associated car parking space at the north and 
east. 
 

3.11 To the west of the hospital site, at the junction of Town Lane and London Road is 
West Plaza, which is a high-density residential development that previously 
formed part of Ashford Hospital.  It contains 152 residential units in buildings 
ranging up to 6 storeys in height.  The reserved matters for this development were 
approved in October 2012, under reference 12/01037/RMA.  
 

Page 29



 
 

The Proposal   
 

3.12 This planning application is proposing the construction of 127 residential units in 
three blocks, which would range between 2 and 5 storeys in height.  The 
development would be served by 127 parking spaces at a ratio of 1 car parking 
space per dwelling.  The development also proposes associated access, facilities, 
services, amenity space and landscaping. 
 

3.13 The applicant submitted a viability assessment which stated a commitment to 
providing 12 affordable units, even though the assessment considered that this 
would be unviable.  Following a review by the Local Planning Authority’s (LPA’s) 
independent viability assessor, the applicant has made a commitment to providing 
22 affordable (17%) housing units in an affordable rented tenure. 
 

3.14 The development would comprise 122 apartments and 5 two storey terraced 
houses that would be situated at the south of the site.  The proposed unit mix is 
outlined in the table below: 
 

1 bed apartment 2 bed apartment 3 bed apartment 2 bed house 

36 
(28%) 

78 
(61%) 

8 
(6%) 

5 
(4%) 

 
Site Layout 
 

3.15 The development would be arranged across 3 blocks.  Block A would be the 
largest block in the development and would be 5 storeys in height.  It would 
contain 96 apartments and would be situated to the west of the site.  Block B 
would be situated at the east of the site.  It would be 3 storeys in height and would 
contain 24 apartments.  Block C would be situated to the south of the site and 
would be occupied by 5 terraced dwellings and 2 apartments.  
 

3.16 The illustration below outlines the layout of the site and the location of Blocks A, B 
& C. 
 

Page 30



 
 

 
   
 
Block A 
 

3.17 Block A would be largest block in the development.  It would contain 96 units and 
all of the block would be 5 storeys in height.  This block would incorporate a series 
of gable roofs that would run on a north to south axis and would range between 
17.3 metres and 19 metres in height.  The tallest element of Block A would be 
situated in the south-western corner.   
 

3.18 Block A would be arranged around a central landscaped courtyard, which would 
contain private amenity space that would only be accessible to the residents of 
the development.  The units situated in this block would either incorporate ‘inset’ 
or external balconies, which would look out onto either the external streetscape or 
the internal courtyard.  The external walls would contain light grey multi-brick and 
the roofs would contain black fibre cement states.  Details of the materials for the 
entire development would be submitted for approval in the event that this 
application was approved.   

 
3.19 The residential units in Block A would be accessed through the central courtyard, 

which would be accessible via ground floor openings in the eastern and western 
elevations.  Entry to the residential units would then be through one of four central 
spine stairways/lifts.  
 

3.20 Block A would contain 34 x 1-bedroom units, 54 x 2-bedroom units and 8 x 3-
bedroom units.   
 

Page 31



 
 

Block B 
 

3.21 Block B would be situated to the east of the site and would be 3 storeys in height.  
It would contain a series of gables that would measure a maximum height of 
12.26 metres and would run on an east to west axis.  
 

3.22 The residential units in Block B would be accessed through entrances in the 
eastern and western flank elevations.  The upper floor units would then be 
accessible through internal stairways and lifts.  With the exception of 2 units on 
the ground floor, all of the units in Block B would be served by an ‘inset’ or 
external balcony or terrace.  A communal amenity area is proposed to the east of 
Block B, which would have controlled access limited to residents.  
 

3.23 Block B would incorporate light red multi-brick in the facades with light grey joint 
and feature brick projections, as well as black fibre cement roof slates. 
 

3.24 The unit mix of Block B would consist of 2 x 1-bedroom units and 22 x 2 bedroom 
units. 
 
Block C 
 

3.25 Block C would contain 5 x 2-bedroom terraced dwellings, which would each 
contain private garden areas at the rear and a single car parking space front.  The 
block would also contain 2 x 2-bedroom apartments. 
 

3.26 Block C would incorporate a series of gables that would run on a north to south 
axis.  The gables would measure a maximum height of approximately 9.75 
metres.  The proposed materials would consist of dark red multi-brick in the 
facades and back fibre cement slates in the roof.      
 

4. Consultations 

4.1 The following table shows those bodies consulted and their response. 

Page 32



 
 

 

5. Public Consultation 

 
5.1 The proposed development was statutorily publicised by a planning site notice 

adjacent to the site, and in the local newspaper. Neighbour notification letters 
were posted to housing in close proximity to the site.   A total of 5 letters of 
representation have been received, objecting to the proposal on the following 
grounds: 
 

• The existing traffic barrier must be retained as proposed, to prevent a dangerous 
cut through being created (Officer Note: The applicant has proposed that the 
barrier would be retained). 

• Increased traffic would cause additional pollution. 

• If access to the site is restricted for pedestrians, it will impact on walking routes of 
hospital employees and Tesco users (Officer Note: a pavement is proposed 
through the site).  

Consultee Comment 

Affordable Housing Advisor The applicant should make a 
commitment to providing 22 affordable 
rented units. 

Heathrow Safeguarding Requests two informatives. 

CADENT GAS Request an informative is attached to 
any planning permission. 
 

County Highway Authority  Requests conditions. 

County Archaeological Officer Requests conditions. 

Council’s Arboricultural Officer  The site has no trees of any particular 
merit and there are no objections to 
the proposal. 

Highways England No objection to the impact upon the 
Strategic Road network. 

Environment Agency No objection. 
 

Environmental Health (Contaminated 
Land and Dust) 

Requests conditions. 

Environmental Health (Air Quality) Requests conditions. 

Environmental Health (Noise) Requests conditions. 

Environmental Services (Renewable 
Energy) 

No objection. 
 

Head of Neighbourhood Services No objection. 

Natural England No objection. 
 

Crime Prevention Officer No objection subject to conditions.  
 

Thames Water No objection.   
 

Lead Local Flood Authority (SUDS) No objection subject to conditions. 
 

SSE Power Distribution No comments received.  

Surrey Wildlife Trust No objections subject to conditions.  
 

Page 33



 
 

• Concern regarding how impact of noise on the proposed properties from night 
time deliveries at Tesco will be addressed. 

• Insufficient information has been provided to residents in relation to the proposal. 

• Public consultation for the proposal was not well advertised (Officer Note: 
notifications letters were sent to the occupiers of all adjoining dwellings and a 
planning site notice was displayed adjacent to the site, and in the local 
newspaper). 

• There are lots of flats already built near Tesco, and the area is close to capacity 
for housing.  

• The area would be better used for a junior school 

• There is insufficient infrastructure to support more residents and associated traffic 

• The Design and Access statement references a repealed Disability and 
Discrimination Act (1995/2005), and the correct reference (Equality Act 2010) 
should be reviewed (Officer Note: the applicant has confirmed that the 
development would comply with the Equality Act 2010) 

• Reference is made to Lifetime Homes, but this is not fully considered in the 
planning application, which includes some flats having baths, and inappropriate 
door configurations (Officer Note: accessible housing issues are dealt with in 
some detail at the Building Regulations stage) 

• Impact on privacy of existing residents 

• Inadequate capacity for additional traffic at hospital junction 

• Additional noise as a result of increased housing density 

• Insufficient parking provision for number of houses proposed 

• Overlooking and loss of privacy caused by houses being built too close to each 
other 

• Loss of light to homes and gardens 

• Building work will cause increased noise, dirt and disruption 

• Proposed dwelling numbers have been increased from 115 to 127 
 

 
6. Planning Issues 

➢ Principle of Development 

➢ Need for Housing 

➢ Housing Type, Size  

➢ Affordable housing 

➢ Design, Height and Appearance 

➢ Density 

➢ Amenity Space for Residents 

➢ Landscape 

➢ Open Space 

➢ Contaminated Land 

➢ Impact on Existing Residential Dwellings 

➢ Parking 

➢ Transportation Issues 

➢ Waste and Recycling 

Page 34



 
 

➢ Air Quality 

➢ Archaeology 

➢ Flooding 

➢ Renewable Energy 

➢ Biodiversity 

➢ Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

➢ Equality Act 

➢ Human Rights Act 

➢ Local Finance Considerations 

 

7. Planning Considerations 

Principle of Development 
 

7.1 Policy HO1 encourages the development of appropriate land for housing 
purposes and seeks to ensure the effective use of urban land through the 
application of Policy HO5 on density.  
 

7.2 This is also reflected in the NPPF paragraph 117 which emphasises the need for 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, whilst safeguarding the 
environment, and provides further relevant context at paragraph 122 in respect of 
achieving appropriate densities.  
 

7.3 The application is proposing the redevelopment of a former hospital car park in 
the urban area, which is no longer in use, and the demolition of three former 
nursery buildings and two former ancillary hospital buildings.  The development 
would create 127 residential units that would make a significant contribution to the 
Council’s 5-year housing supply.  
 

7.4 The majority of the units (93%) would contain either 1 or 2 bedrooms, as 
encouraged by policy HO4.  High density development has also previously been 
accepted on the Ashford Hospital site at the West Plaza Development, and it is 
considered that higher density development would be acceptable in this location.  
The Council’s Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) (July 2019) also 
identifies that the site could accommodate 108 dwellings, in a time frame of 1-5 
years.  
 

7.5 The principle of the redevelopment of a site in the urban area is considered to be 
acceptable subject to assessment against local and national planning policies and 
guidance and any other relevant material planning considerations. 
 
Need for Housing 
 

7.6 When considering planning applications for housing, local planning authorities 
should have regard to the government’s requirement that they boost significantly 
the supply of housing, and meet the full objectively assessed need for market and 
affordable housing in their housing area so far as is consistent policies set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.  
 

Page 35



 
 

7.7 Government guidance (NPPF para 73) requires the application of a 20% buffer 
“where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the previous 
three years”. In addition, guidance on the Housing Delivery Test indicates that 
where housing delivery falls below 85%, a buffer of 20% should be applied to the 
local authority’s five year land supply.  The Housing Delivery Test result for 
Spelthorne Borough Council was published by the Secretary of State in February 
2020, with a score of 60%.  This means that the Council had undelivered housing 
when compared to need over the previous three years.  As a consequence, a 
buffer must be applied and the Council’s Housing Delivery Test Action Plan, first 
prepared in 2019 has been updated.  This plan positively responds to the 
challenge of increasing its housing delivery and sets out actions to improve 
delivery within the Borough. 
 

7.8 The NPPF requires a local authority to demonstrate a full five year supply of 
deliverable sites at all times. For this reason, the base date for this assessment is 
the start of the current year 1 April 2020, but the full five year time period runs 
from the end of the current year, that is, 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2026. The 20% 
buffer will therefore be applied to this full period. National guidance sets out that 
the buffer should comprise sites moved forward from later in the plan period. A 
20% buffer applied to 606 results in a figure of 727 dwellings per annum, or 3636 
over five years. 
 

7.9 In using the objectively assessed need figure of 727 as the starting point for the 
calculation of a five year supply it must be borne in mind that this does not 
represent a target as it is based on unconstrained need. Through the Local Plan 
review, the Borough’s housing supply will be assessed in light of the Borough’s 
constraints, which will be used to consider options for meeting need. The Council 
has now published its Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) which 
identifies potential sites for future housing development over the plan period. 
 

7.10 The sites identified in the SLAA as being deliverable within the first five years 
have been used as the basis for a revised five year housing land supply figure. 
Spelthorne has identified sites to deliver approximately 3518 dwellings in the five 
year period. 
 

7.11 The effect of this increased requirement with the application of a 20% buffer is 
that the identified sites only represent a 4.8 year supply and accordingly the 
Council cannot at present demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing 
sites. 
 

7.12 It should be noted that in August, the Government launched a consultation entitled 
“Changes to the current planning system” which consulted on, amongst other 
things, the current method in assessing housing need.  The current draft figure 
has reduced the housing figure for Spelthorne from 606 dwellings per annum to 
489.  However, no firm conclusions have been reached by the Government on the 
consultation, it has not yet published its formal response.  The consultation, in this 
respect, is primarily directed towards plan making rather than decision taking on 
planning applications.  The consultation indicates that revised PPG guidance will 
follow the conclusion of the consultation.  Whilst the consultation proposes certain 
transitional provisions for plan making; it does not make any transitional changes 
for decision taking.  Consequently, decision taking continues to be governed by 
the NPPF 2019 and the PPG, the latter being recently updated in July 2019.  

Page 36



 
 

There have been no amendments to that guidance to indicate that what may 
become the new plan starting point figures can now be used for development 
management purposes in the determination of planning applications. 

 

7.13 As a result, current decisions on planning applications for housing development 
need to be based on the ‘tilted balance’ approach set out in paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF (2019). This requires that planning permission should be granted unless 
‘any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole’. 
 
Housing Type and Size  
 

7.14 Policy HO4 of the CS&P DPD and the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) on Housing Size and Type, seeks to secure 80% of dwellings in 
developments of 4 or more units to be 1 or 2 bed in size. This is to ensure that the 
overall dwelling stock meets the demand that exists within the Borough, including 
a greater demand for smaller dwellings.  
 

7.15 The application proposes 36 x 1-bedroom apartments (31%), 78 x 2-bedroom 
apartments (61%), 8 x 3-bedroom apartments (6%) and 5 x 2-bedroom dwelling 
houses (4%).  As approximately 93% of the units would contain either 1 or 2 
bedrooms, the development would meet the requirements of Policy HO4 outlined 
above.  The proposed unit mix is therefore considered to be appropriate.     
 

7.16 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development (2011) sets out 
minimum floor space standards for new dwellings. 
 

7.17 The Government has also published national minimum dwelling size standards in 
their “Technical Housing Standards – nationally described space standard” 
document (2015). These largely reflect the London Housing Design Guide on 
which the Spelthorne standards were also based and are arranged in a similar 
manner to those in the SPD.  A summary of the relevant minimum floor space 
requirements set out in the Technical Housing Standards is illustrated in the table 
below: 
 

Dwelling Size (Single Storey) Minimum Floor Space Requirement 

1 bed x 1 person 39m² 

1 bed x 2 person 50m² 

2 bed x 3 person 61m² 

2 bed x 4 person 70m² 

3 bed x 4 person 74m² 

Dwelling Size (Two Storey) Minimum Flood Space Requirement 

2 bed x 3 person 70m² 

 
 

7.18 All of the apartments proposed in Blocks A & B would meet the minimum internal 
floor space requirements outlined above.  The 5 terraced dwellings proposed in 
Block C, would also meet the minimum requirements for a 2 bed x 3 person 
dwelling set over 2 storeys. 
 

Page 37



 
 

7.19 The ground floor apartment in Block C would constitute a 2 bed x 3 person 
apartment.  It would contain an internal floor space measuring 60m², which would 
fall 1m² short of the 61m² minimum floor space requirements for a unit of this size.  
The upper floor apartment in Block C, would be in adherence to the minimum floor 
space requirements. 
 

7.20 As 126 of the 127 units would be in adherence to the minimum internal floor 
space requirements as set out in the Technical Housing Standards, and given the 
extent of the shortfall in floor space of the apartment in Block C by just 1 sq. m,  
the internal floor space provision across the development is considered to be 
acceptable.  Additionally, a shortfall of 1m² is not viewed to outweigh the benefits 
of the overall scheme and the contribution of 127 residential units to the Council’s 
5 year housing supply. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 

7.21 The NPPF seeks to deliver a sufficient supply of homes that meet the needs of the 
population. Paragraph 62 of the NPPF states that: 
 
‘Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify 
the type of affordable housing required, and expect it to be met on-site…’ 
 

7.22 Policy HO3 of the CS&P DPD states: 
 
‘The Council’s target for affordable housing is that 40% of all net additional 
dwellings completed over the plan period, 2006-2026, should be affordable.’ 
 

7.23 Policy HO3 further states that this will be achieved by having regard to the 
circumstances of each site and negotiating a proportion of up to 50% of housing 
on sites to be affordable, where the development comprises 15 or more dwellings.  
The LPA seeks to maximise the contribution to affordable housing provision from 
each site, having regard to the individual circumstances and viability, with 
negotiations conducted on an ‘open book’ basis.  
 

7.24 The NPPF (paragraph 57) states that viability assessments should reflect the 
approach recommended by national planning guidance, including standardised 
inputs.  The planning policy guidance (PPG) states that the assessment of costs 
in viability assessments should be based on evidence that is reflective of local 
market conditions.  The PPG further states 15-20% return of the gross 
development value may be considered as a suitable return to the developer in 
order to establish the viability of the development. The Local Planning Authority 
has also been advised by independent financial advisors that every application 
must be assessed in the same way regardless of the developer, and this is 
reflected in RICS guidance.   
 

7.25 The applicant has submitted a viability assessment, which has been prepared by 
advisors, BNP Paribas.  The assessment concludes that based upon current 
values and costs, it would not be viable to provide any affordable housing across 
the development.  However, the statement further indicates that the applicant will 
be offering 12 affordable units to assist with affordable housing in the Borough, 
despite this level being unviable.  
 

Page 38



 
 

7.26 Planning Officers instructed an independent viability advisor to conduct a review 
of the applicant’s viability statement.  The advisor studied the inputs of the BNP 
Paribas appraisal and conducted her own research into Gross Development 
Values, Benchmark Values and build costs and other inputs adopted for the 
proposed development.  
 

7.27 Following the assessment, the independent consultant recommended that the 
applicant should be requested to provide 22 affordable housing units in an 
affordable rented tenure (17%), as the calculations indicated that the development 
would be viable with this level of affordable housing provision.  As a consequence, 
the applicant subsequently agreed to provide the 22 units affordable units in an 
affordable rented tenure.  This comprises the following units sizes that would be 
located in Block B and Block C: 
 

• 17 x 2 bedroom, 3 person units  

• 4 x 2 bedroom, 4 person units  

• 1 x 1 bedroom 2 person unit.   
 
7.28 The NPPF in Annex 2, defines affordable housing as; housing for sale or rent, for 

those whose needs are not met by the market, including housing that provides a 
subsidised route to home ownership and/or is essential for local workers.  It must 
also comply with one or more of the following definitions of affordable housing 
listed in Annex 2 as a) affordable housing for rent, b) starter homes, c) discounted 
market sales housing, d) other affordable routes to home ownership.  The 
applicant is providing 22 affordable housing units under the NPPF definition. 
 

7.29 The applicant’s planning statement suggests that the development is seeking to 
provide rented housing, which will be offered to key workers which includes 
individuals working for the police, health workers and education workers, as well 
as to individuals on the housing register.  It is also understood that the applicant 
has agreed a Memorandum of Understanding with the NHS for 109 units to be 
offered to healthcare workers.  However, whilst this may be the applicant’s 
intention, the planning application is proposing 22 affordable units (17%).  As 
such, should planning permission be granted, the applicant would only be 
obligated from a planning perspective to provide 22 affordable housing units, 
subject to an appropriate agreement.  It would then be a decision for the 
applicant, should they wish to offer what they consider to be affordable housing 
units above this level, although there would be no planning obligation for them to 
do so.  Furthermore, occupants listed in the Memorandum of Understanding may 
not necessarily be from the Council’s register and this would not meet our most 
acute requirements for general needs housing.   
 

7.30 As the applicant has agreed to provide 22 units in an affordable rented tenure as 
recommended by the LPA’s independent viability assessor, it is considered that 
the proposal would be in accordance with the requirements of policy HO3 and the 
NPPF. 
 
Design, Height and Appearance  
 

7.31 Policy EN1 of the CS&P DPD, which is supported by the Supplementary Planning 
Document on the ‘Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 

Page 39



 
 

Development’, requires a high standard of design. Sub point (a) requires new 
development to demonstrate that it will:  
 
“create buildings and places that are attractive with their own distinct identity; they 
should respect and make a positive contribution to the street scene and the 
character of the area in which they are situated”  
 

7.32 The site is surrounded by existing residential development to the north, south and 
east, much of which is two storey in scale, with a variety of brick, materials and 
detailing.  To the north of the site, properties in Viola Avenue and Vernon Close 
are older, traditionally designed and set over two storeys, as are properties in 
Willowbrook Road and Albain Crescent, located to the south.  Greenaway 
Terrace, located directly to the east contains a row of two storey terraced 
dwellings with driveways at the front and gardens at the rear.  There is a greater 
mixture of dwellings in Victory Close and Yeoman Drive, with two storey semi-
detached and terraced dwellings present, as well as higher density three storey 
flatted development at Barley Court, Marquis House, Queen Mary House.  There 
is also high-density development on the western side of the hospital site in West 
Plaza and also to the north on what was formerly known as the Stanwell New 
Start scheme. 
 

7.33 The proposed unit mix ranging from two storey terraced dwellings to five storey 
apartments is considered to be acceptable in this location given the unit mix in the 
surrounding area, particularly the high-density flatted developments at West 
Plaza. 
 

7.34 The placement of windows and balconies, the distances between existing and 
proposed housing (detailed elsewhere in this report), the use of a variety of 
materials ranging from traditional brick to more modern reconstituted stone and 
glass and the use of features such as gables, areas of open space and 
landscaping, all help to integrate the proposed development with the existing, and 
to relate to the surrounding development style and character, while taking account 
of the constraints of redeveloping a site in an urban environment. 
 

7.35 It is therefore considered that the proposal would have an acceptable impact upon 
the character of the area and would meet the requirements of Policies EN1 and 
SP6 of the CS&P DPD and the NPPF. 
 
Density  
 

7.36 Policy HO5 of the CS&P DPD states that within existing residential areas 
characterised predominantly by family housing rather than flats, new development 
should generally be in the range of 35 to 55 dwellings per hectare.  In areas 
characterised by a significant proportion of flats, and those containing significant 
employment areas, this rises to a range between 40 to 75 dwellings per hectare.  
Policy HO5 further states higher density development may be acceptable where it 
is demonstrated that the scheme complies with Policy EN1 on design.   
 

7.37 The NPPF encourages the optimisation of densities and states that Local 
Planning Authorities should refuse planning applications which they consider fail 
to make an efficient use of land. 
 

Page 40



 
 

7.38 The development would have a density of approximately 140 dwellings per 
hectare.  The surrounding residential properties located to the north, east and 
south of the site, are laid out as either ‘traditional family scale dwellings’ or as 
flatted developments including Wheat House, Marquis Court and Barley Court.  A 
density in the range of 40 to 75 dwellings per hectare would normally be 
considered acceptable in this location, when assessed against policy HO5.  
However, Policy HO5 allows for higher density developments where a scheme 
complies with Policy EN1 on design, particularly in terms of its compatibility with 
the character of the area and is in a location that is accessible by non-car based 
modes of transport.  For the reasons highlighted above, the proposal is 
considered to be in accordance with policy EN1 in design terms and a higher 
density is considered to be acceptable subject to its location being accessible.  
This will be considered further below. 
 

7.39 The proposed density of 140 dwellings per hectare, is considered to represent an 
acceptable optimisation of the site, in accordance with the objectives of the NPPF.  
It should also be noted that West Plaza, which is located 250 metres to the west 
of the site and previously formed part of Ashford Hospital, has a density of 165 
dwellings per hectare.  
 

7.40 The proposed density is considered to be in accordance with the objectives of the 
NPPF, and as the development is in accordance with policy EN1, the proposal is 
also considered to accord with the objectives of policy HO5, subject to the proviso 
referred to above. 
 
Amenity Space for Residents 
 

7.41 The Council’s SPD, Design of Residential Extension and New Residential 
Development (2011) provides general guidance on minimum garden sizes 
(Paragraph 4.20).  In the case of flats, this guidance states that 35m² of amenity 
space should be provided per unit for the first 5 units, 10m² should be provided to 
the next 5 units, and 5m² should be provided to each unit thereafter.  It also states 
that two bedroom semi-detached or terraced dwellings should be provided with a 
minimum garden area of 60m². 
 

7.42 On the basis of the above minimum guidance, there would be a requirement for 
the 122 apartments to be served by a minimum of 780m² of private amenity 
space.  The plans indicate that all but two of the apartments would be served by 
either inset or external balconies, or private amenity areas on the ground floors.  
The Local Planning Authority has calculated that 1191m² of amenity space would 
be provided across the balconies and private amenity areas serving the ground 
floor units.  This would exceed the LPA’s minimum guidelines and is therefore 
considered to be acceptable. 
 

7.43 Further communal amenity space would be provided to residents of Block A in the 
Central Courtyard, which measures 595m².  This would have controlled access 
and would only be accessible for residents of this block.  A further amenity space 
with controlled access would also be provided to Block B, situated to the east of 
this block.  This would measure approximately 527m² in area. Both of these areas 
would contain incidental play features for young children.   
 

Page 41



 
 

7.44 When considered cumulatively with the balconies and private garden areas, the 
apartments would be provided with amenity space that significantly exceeds the 
Council’s minimum requirements.   
 

7.45 The garden areas provided to the dwelling houses in Block C vary form 23m² m to 
62m². The Council’s SPD on design states that two bedroom dwellings should 
contain a minimum garden area of 60m².  It is acknowledged that 4 of the 5 
houses would fall short of the Council’s minimum requirements.  Whilst this is the 
case, there is a play area and green space within 150 metres of the site, in Victory 
Close.  The applicant’s submission documents also identify 6 play spaces within a 
15 minute walk of the site, which are considered to partially mitigate this shortfall.  
On balance, given the siting of the green space in Victory Close, and as the 
development as a whole would provide amenity space significantly in excess of 
the Council’s minimum amenity space requirements, the level of amenity space 
provided to the proposed terraced dwellings is considered to be acceptable when 
weighted against the benefits of the scheme.   

 
Landscape  
 

7.46 The applicant has submitted a landscape statement, which details planting at the 
site boundaries and car parks, as well as in the courtyard of Block A.  This is 
considered to enhance the development and the amenity provided. 
 

7.47 The applicant has submitted an Arboricultural Implications Assessment, which 
states that it would be necessary to fell an Ash Tree and 2 x Horse Chestnuts 
within the site to enable to the development to take place.  The Council’s Tree 
Officer has undertaken a site visit and has commented that the trees are not of 
particular merit, and the proposed new planting will compensate for their loss.  
 
Open Space 
 

7.48 Policy CO3 of the CS&P DPD states that in new housing development of 30 or 
more family dwellings the Local Planning Authority will require a minimum of 0.1 
hectares of open space to provide for a children’s play area.  The policy states 
that such provision should be increased proportionally according to the size of the 
scheme.  For the purposes of this policy a family unit is defined as having two or 
more bedrooms.   
 

7.49 There would be 91 units across the development that would contain two or more 
bedrooms.  On this basis there would be a requirement for 0.3 hectares of open 
space to provide children’s play spaces. 
 

7.50 Play features for younger children would be contained in the courtyard of Block A 
and the amenity space to the east of Block B.  Both of these spaces would have 
controlled access and would not be open to members of the general public.  The 
total area of the courtyard within Block A and the amenity space to the east of 
Block B would amount to approximately 0.1122 hectares.  The incidental play 
areas would form part of this space. 
 

7.51 As there would be a shortfall when assessed against the requirements of policy 
CO3, the LPA has sought a financial contribution from the applicant towards off-
site improvements to existing open spaces in the borough.  A contribution of 

Page 42



 
 

£35,000 has been agreed.  The applicant’s submission documents have also 
identified 6 play spaces within a 15 minute walk of the site, including a park in 
Victory Close, which is approximately 100 metres from the site, and this is 
considered to partially mitigate this shortfall.   
 

7.52 Given the proximity of other open public spaces to the site, together with the 
applicant’s financial contribution towards the improvement of off-site existing open 
spaces, whilst the shortfall in open space when assessed against policy CO3 is 
acknowledged, on balance the proposal is considered to be acceptable in this 
regard. 
 
 
Impact on Existing Residential Dwellings 
 

7.53 Policy EN1 (b) requires that new development ‘achieves a satisfactory relationship 
to adjoining properties avoiding significant harmful impacts in terms of loss of 
privacy, daylight, sunlight, or overbearing effect due to bulk, proximity or outlook.’ 
 
Daylight & Sunlight  
 

7.54 The applicant has submitted a daylight sunlight report.  The report uses BRE 
guidance to analyse the impacts of the development upon light entering windows 
serving neighbouring dwellings.  This is assessed through 3 measures; (i) the 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC), (ii) the No Sky Line (NSL) and (iii) Annual 
Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH).    
  

7.55 The Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is a measure of the amount of sky that is 
visible from the centre point of an existing window.  Where a development would 
not obstruct a 25° vertical section from a point at the centre of the window, there is 
no need for further assessment as this is deemed to be acceptable.   
 

7.56 Where a Vertical Sky Component exceeds 27%, it is considered that the room 
would be provided with a good level of light.  If, following the construction of a 
proposed development, the VSC is less than 27% and would be 0.8 times (or 
20%) less than its former value, BRE guidance states that the loss of light would 
be noticeable.   
 

7.57 The No Sky Line (NSL) assessment calculates where the sky can and cannot be 
seen within a room at the working plane, which in the case of houses is measured 
from a height of 0.85 metres.  If following construction of the development, the sky 
line moves so that the area of the room that receives direct skylight is reduced to 
0.8 times (or 20%) its former value, this will be noticeable to the occupants of the 
room, which will feel more poorly lit.    
 

7.58 The Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) relates to the long-term average of 
the total number of hours during a year in which direct sunlight reaches the 
unobstructed ground.  BRE guidance indicates that if the centre of a window can 
receive 25% of annual probable sunlight hours, including 5% of annual probable 
sunlight between 21 September and 21 March, a reduction to 0.8 times (or 20%) 
its current value, or a reduction of the whole year of 4% of the annual probable 
sunlight hours may adversely impact the room it serves. 
 

Page 43



 
 

7.59 The applicant’s daylight sunlight report has assessed VSC and NSL values at 
adjoining dwellings in Queen Mary Court, Albain Crescent, Willowbrook Road, 
Viola Avenue, Yeoman Drive, Greenaway Terrace and Victory Close.  
 

7.60 The report identifies that following construction of the development there would be 
shortfalls against the BRE, VSC guidelines at 12, 13, 14 and 15 Albain Crescent, 
18 Victory Close and 83 Viola Avenue.  The report further identifies that there 
would be shortfalls against NSL guidelines at 14 and 15 Albain Crescent, 40 
Willowbrook Road, Queen Mary Court and 92N Viola Avenue.  All assessed 
properties were found to be in accordance with BRE APSH guidance.  
 

7.61 The LPA has appointed an independent advisor to review the daylight sunlight 
reports findings.  The advisor considered that the shortfalls in VSC and NSL levels 
at 12 and 13 Albain Crescent, 18 Victory Close, 83 Viola Avenue, Queen Mary 
Court and 92N Viola Avenue, were within an acceptable margin, and the impact 
upon the light serving these dwellings is therefore considered to be acceptable. 
 

7.62 The advisor stated that there were ‘slight concerns’ over the impact of the 
development upon light reaching windows at 14 Albain Crescent and 40 
Willowbrook Road.   The daylight sunlight report notes that 5 windows at 14 
Albain Crescent would see VSC reductions of between 23-25% (BRE guidance 
states there should not be a loss of more than 20%).  Additionally, 2 windows 
serving this dwelling would have a 21-24% reduction in NLS levels (BRE guidance 
also states there should be a loss of no more than 20%).  At 40 Willowbrook 
Road, all windows would pass VSC guidance.  However, 1 window (out of 6), 
would see a reduction in NSL levels of 37%. 
 

7.63 The advisor has also expressed greater concerns over the impact upon light 
entering 15 Albain Crescent, where 5 windows would fall outside VSC guidelines 
with reductions of between 24-29% and 3 rooms would have between a 31-53% 
reduction in NSL levels.  There would be a noticeable impact upon the light 
entering this property following construction of the development.  This was drawn 
to the applicant’s attention who commented that following the construction of the 
development 90% of the neighbouring windows would be compliant with VSC 
guidelines,  95% of the windows would be compliant with NSL guidelines and 
100% of the windows would be compliant with APSH guidelines. 
 

7.64 The LPA must undertake a planning balancing exercise in terms of the impact of 
the development upon the light entering existing surrounding properties, where 
there would be shortfalls against planning policies and guidance.  The LPA is 
unable to demonstrate a 5-year housing supply.  The NPPF requires Local 
Planning Authority’s to adopt a ‘tilted-balance’ approach, where a 5 year housing 
supply cannot be demonstrated, in which development should be approved 
without delay unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development when assessed against 
policies in the NPPF as a whole.  In this instance, the application proposes a 
development in the urban area on a surplus car park, which would make a 
significant contribution to the LPA’s 5-year housing supply.  There would be 
noticeable impacts upon light entering 14 & 15 Albain Crescent and 40 
Willowbrook Road, which currently benefit from an open site at their rear 
boundaries.  However, the impacts upon the light entering these properties needs 
to be considered against the NPPF as a whole, in particular the provision of much 

Page 44



 
 

needed 127 housing units and when balancing the application as a whole it is not 
considered that objection should be raised on the basis of loss of light. 
 
Overshadowing 
 

7.65 The daylight sunlight report also analyses whether the development would 
overshadow neighbouring properties.  BRE guidance states that at least half of all 
amenity areas should receive at least 2 hours of sunlight on 21st of March.  The 
BRE guidance states that if an existing garden or amenity area does not meet this 
guidance, and as result of development the area that can received 2 hours of 
sunlight on March 21 is less than 0.8 times (or 20%) its former value, then the loss 
of sunlight is likely to be noticeable.   
 

7.66 The Daylight Sunlight report states that only one property would see a reduction 
of more than 0.8 times its current value (18 Victory Close).  However, more than 
half the amenity space at this property (55.9%) would received two hours of 
daylight on 21 March, and as such the development would be compliant with BRE 
guidelines on overshadowing. 
 
Privacy & Overbearing Impact 
 

7.67 The LPA’s SPD on the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development (April 2011), states that the positions of windows should avoid views 
into the windows of an adjoining property or onto patios or sitting out and garden 
areas immediately to the rear of these properties.  The SPD further states that an 
appropriate degree of separation must exist between properties to avoid 
overlooking, preserve privacy and to avoid an overbearing impact. 
  

7.68 The SPD contains a ‘back to back’ and ‘back to side’ guide, which states that 
there should be a minimum distance of 21 metres between the rear elevations of 
neighbouring dwellings, which increases to a guideline distance of 30 metres, 
where the dwellings are set over three storeys. The guidance further states that 
there should be a minimum ‘back to side’ distance of 13.5 metres between two 
storey dwellings, and a minimum ‘back to side’ distance of 21 metres for three 
storey dwellings.  It should be noted that this guidance is primarily aimed towards 
‘traditional suburban dwellings’ rather than high density development.  
 
Block A 
 

7.69 Block A would be set over 5 storeys and would contain balconies and windows 
serving habitable rooms in each elevation.  There would be a ‘back to back’ 
distance of approximately 18.2 metres between Block A and the closest dwelling 
to the south of the site (13 Albain Crescent).  There would also be a distance of 
13.5 metres between the rear elevation of Block A, and the rear boundary of this 
property.  Whilst this would fall short of the LPA’s 30 metre guidance, 18.2 metres 
is a significant distance, and it is considered that the southern elevation of Block A 
would have an acceptable impact upon the privacy of dwellings located to the 
south of the site. 
 

7.70 There would be a distance of approximately 31.9 metres between the northern 
elevation of Block A and the southern elevation of the nearest residential dwelling 
situated to the north of the site (83 Viola Avenue).  This dwelling contains a 

Page 45



 
 

relatively long rear garden.  As a result Block A would be situated some 7.3 
metres from the rear boundary of this property.  However, given the 31.9 metre 
distance to the rear elevation of this dwelling, Block A is considered to have an 
acceptable impact upon the privacy of all dwellings to the north of the site.   
 

7.71 It is acknowledged that Block A would be situated 3 metres from the boundary 
with the communal amenity area of Queen Mary Court situated to the north of the 
site.  This amenity area is already overlooked by the units in Queen Mary Court 
and it is not considered that an objection could reasonably be sustained on this 
basis. 
 

7.72 Given the distances outlined above, whilst there would be shortfalls when 
assessed against the LPA’s ‘back-to-back’ and ‘back-to-side’ guidance, Block A is 
not considered to have an overbearing impact upon any surrounding dwellings 
and is considered to have a satisfactory impact upon privacy.   
 
Block B 
 

7.73 Block B would be set over 3 storeys and would incorporate first and second floor 
windows in the eastern flank elevation that would serve habitable rooms.  The 
windows would be situated approximately 7 metres from the western flank 
boundary of 18 Victory Close and 11 metres from the flank boundary of 1A 
Yeoman Drive.  As such, there would be a significant shortfall in the Council’s 
back-to-side guidance and there would be a degree of overlooking into the rear 
gardens of both properties.  However, any overlooking would occur at a distance 
of 7 and 11 metres.   
 

7.74 Whilst there would be a shortfall in separation distances when assessed against 
the Council’s  21 metre back to side distance, as outlined in the daylight section of 
this report, the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing 
supply and must apply a ‘tilted balance’ approach, whereby the NPPF states 
planning permission should be approved unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development when 
assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a whole.   
 

7.75 There would be a degree of overlooking 18 Victory Close at a distance of 7 
metres, and of the garden at 1A Yeoman Drive at a distance of 11 metres.  The 
Local Planning Authority must carefully consider whether this separation distance 
would cause harm to an extent that this would outweigh the provision of 127 
residential units in an urban location.  On balance, this is considered to be an 
acceptable compromise.  
 

7.76 At its closest point Queen Mary Court would be situated approximately 10 metres 
from the north-western corner of Block B, falling short of the Council’s guideline 
separation distances.  However, no windows are proposed in the northern 
elevation and at such a distance it is considered that the proposal would not have 
an overbearing impact upon Queen Mary Court.  
 

7.77 There would also be a distance of 21 metres between the western elevation of 
Block A and the eastern elevation of Block B.  At such a distance, Block A and 
Block C are considered to have an acceptable relationship. 
 

Page 46



 
 

Block C 
 

7.78 Block C would contain a row of 5 x 2 bed, two storey terraced dwellings and 2 x 2 
bed apartments that would be located at the east of the block. 
 

7.79 All of the first floor rear windows to the terraced dwellings in Block C, would serve 
either bathrooms or landings, which do not constitute habitable rooms.  A 
condition is therefore recommended to be attached to the decision notice, which 
requires these windows to contain obscure glazing to prevent opportunities for 
overlooking. 
 

7.80 At the closest point, the rear elevation of Block C would be situated approximately 
1.6 metres from the rear boundary of the nearest residential dwelling (40 
Willowbrook Road).  However, this property has an irregular rear boundary, and 
its rear elevation is not orientated perpendicularly to the rear elevation of Block C.   
 

7.81 At the closest ‘back-to-back’ point, the rear elevation of Block C would be situated 
approximately 11.55 metres from the rear elevation of 40 Willowbrook Road.  This 
separation distance would fall significantly short of the Local Planning Authority’s 
21 metre ‘back-to-back’ guidance.   However, on balance this is considered not to 
result in an overbearing impact.  
 
 

 

 
 

7.82 The first floor apartment at the east of Block C would contain two first floor 
windows in the rear elevation that would serve a combined kitchen and living 
room.  The windows would be located some 7.5 metres from the rear boundary of 
no.27 Willowbrook Road.  On balance it is considered that this would not result in 
unacceptable opportunities for overlooking, particularly as an outbuilding is 
situated at the rear of no.27 Willowbrook Road, alongside the boundary, which 
would mitigate any adverse impacts. 

Page 47



 
 

 
Parking 
 

7.83 Under the requirements of the Councils Parking Standards SPD (2011), a total of 
178 parking off-street car parking spaces would normally be required to serve a 
development of this size, based on the following standards: 

Unit Type  General Needs 
Housing 

Affordable Housing 

1 bed unit 1.25 1 

2 bed unit 1.5 1.25 

3 bed unit (under 80 m²) 2.25 1.75 

 
7.84 Policy CC3 of the CS&P DPD requires adequate provision of off-street parking. 

 
7.85 The development would contain 127 off street car parking spaces at a ratio of 1 

parking space per dwelling.  This would fall 51 car parking spaces short of 
minimum parking space requirements set out in the Council’s Parking Standards 
SPD.    
 

7.86 The Council’s Parking Standards state that a reduction in the minimum 
requirements will normally be allowed in the Borough’s 4 town centres, where 
public transport accessibility is generally high.  Any reduction will be assessed 
against the distance of the site from public transport nodes, the frequency and 
quality of bus and train services, the availability of quality cycle and pedestrian 
routes, and the range and quality of facilities supportive of residential 
development within reasonable walking distance of the site.  
 

7.87 The application site is not situated in one of the Borough’s 4 town centres.  
However, the applicant’s transport assessment indicates that the site is located 
between 375 and 475 metres (4-5 minutes walk approx.) from bus stops in Town 
Lane, with additional bus stops situated in Stanwell Road, which are between 600 
and 640 metres from the site (7-8 minutes walk approx.).  The site is also located 
approximately 1.35 km from Ashford Railway Station, which is considered to be 
within a reasonable walking distance (20 minutes approx.)  Given the accessibility 
of the site by non-car modes of travel, the proposed density is considered to be 
acceptable. 
 

7.88 There are a number of nearby facilities that are supportive to residential 
development that would also be situated within reasonable walking distance of the 
scheme, including the Tesco Superstore and Ashford Hospital, which adjoins the 
site, a community centre and a number of education facilities that are within a 
reasonable distance.   
 

7.89 Whilst the application site is not located in one of the borough’s 4 town centres, it 
is considered that the development would be situated within reasonable walking 
distance of facilities that would be supportive of residential units.  The site is also 
considered to be within reasonable walking distance of a number public transport 
nodes.  As such, whilst there would be shortfall of 51 parking spaces when 
assessed against the Parking Standards SPD, the ratio of 1 parking space per 
unit is considered to be acceptable in this location.  
 

Page 48



 
 

7.90 In addition, census data for flats and apartments within the immediate vicinity of 
the site suggests that 22.3% of the units in the surrounding area are likely to have 
zero cars associated with them, whilst 21% of the surrounding units are likely to 
have more than one vehicle.  The census data further suggests that is likely that 
the remaining 56.7% of units would have one vehicle. The County Highway 
Authority (CHA) has commented that on the basis of this data, one car parking 
space per unit is likely to be sufficient to accommodate the parking demand of the 
proposal, providing the spaces remain unallocated.  It should be noted however, 
that the census data is now 9 years old and it is not possible to determine how 
many vehicles are associated with households with more than one vehicle and is 
the most up to date information we have     
 

7.91 The transport assessment also confirms that the parking spaces would be 
unallocated, and 6 of the parking spaces (5%) would be for disabled users.  It 
further confirms that there would be 127 cycle spaces, at a ratio of 1 space per 
dwelling, which would be in accordance with the minimum requirements set out in 
the Parking Standards SPD. 
 

7.92 It is noted that the development would result in the loss of 113 parking spaces that 
previously served Ashford Hospital, as well as 8 parking spaces that served the 
former nursery.  The car park has been sold by Ashford Hospital and is no longer 
in use, with hoarding having been erected along Town Lane and, it is considered 
that an objection could not be sustained against the proposal on the basis of 
displacement of staff parking for the hospital.      

 
7.93 The transport statement also indicates that a maximum of 69 staff vehicles were 

observed using the car park.  The statement further indicates that the NHS is 
reconfiguring the main hospital car park to accommodate 79 additional spaces.  
As this falls outside of the application site, the LPA would have no planning 
control over reconfiguration of the main car park.  In any event, it is considered 
that an objection could not be sustained on the car parking arrangements of the 
existing hospital, as the application site no longer falls within the ownership of the 
hospital and is in effect now a separate site.   
 
 
Electric Vehicle Charing Points (EV points) 
 

7.94 The County Highway Authority, through its document entitled ‘Surrey Vehicular 
and Cycle Parking’ (January 2018), recommend that in new developments, 1 fast 
EV charging socket should be provided per house, and that 20% of all spaces 
available to flats are fitted with a fast charge socket, with a further 20% being 
provided with a power supply to provide additional fast charging points. 
 

7.95 The County Highway Authority and the Council’s Environmental Health 
Department (Air Quality) have both recommended that at least 20% of the parking 
spaces are provided with electric vehicle charging points.  
 

7.96 The applicant has agreed to provide all 31 of the EV charging points upon 
occupation (5 for the houses and 26 for the flats).  This is considered to be in 
accordance with the objectives of the County guidance. 
 

Page 49



 
 

7.97 The applicant has also agreed to ‘future proof’ a further 26 spaces, in accordance 
with the Surrey guidance to provide a power supply to a further 20% of the 
spaces.  These can be dealt with by planning conditions. 

 
Transportation Issues 
 

7.98 Policy CC2 of the CS&P DPD states that the Local Planning Authority will seek to 
secure more sustainable travel by amongst other things, only permitting traffic 
generating development where it is or can be made compatible with the transport 
infrastructure in the area taking into account the capacity of the local transport 
network, the cumulative impact, and access egress to the public highway and 
highway safety. 
 

7.99 The NPPF also states that development should only be refused or prevented on 
highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact upon highway safety 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.   
 

7.100 The transport assessment includes a trip generation analysis, which predicts that 
the development would create 34 vehicle journeys during the AM peak (8am-
9am), and 24 vehicle journeys during the PM peak (5pm-6pm).  The transport 
assessment also conducted an assessment at local junctions, which suggests that 
in 2021, if completed, the development would cause traffic to increase by 0.7% at 
the junction with London Road, in the am peak and by 0.4% in the pm peak.  The 
transport assessment also predicts that the existing roundabout would continue to 
operate at capacity following completion of the development. 
 

7.101 The Council has consulted the County Highway Authority (CHA).  The CHA 
commented that the development is likely to lead to an increase in queuing on 
Town Lane between the Tesco superstore and Ashford Hospital, and may lead to 
a slight increase in delays on Town Lane and at the junction with the A30, 
although this impact would be low.  Whilst there is likely to be an increase in 
delays along Town Lane, the CHA has not objected to the application on this 
basis. 
 

7.102 As part of the consultation process for the previous planning application to 
redevelop the application site (19/01044/FUL), Highways England requested 
further details on how the development would impact a mini-bus service operating 
between Ashford Hospital and St Peter’s Hospital, as this was agreed as part of a 
planning permission in Runnymede Borough at St Peter’s Hospital (RU.17/1815).  
As the application site has been sold by Ashford Hospital and is no longer in use 
with hoarding erected along Town Lane, it is considered that an objection could 
not reasonably be sustained on the grounds of the impact upon parking 
arrangements at the main Ashford Hospital site.  In addition, the Council 
consulted Highways England on the current application, and no objections were 
made.   
 

7.103 The CHA also commented that that car park reconfiguration at the main hospital 
site has not provided adequate additional capacity.  However, the CHA further 
commented that there would be little scope for objection through the planning 
process on this matter as the ownership of the car park has already been 
transferred and the car park could be barriered off without the requirement 

Page 50



 
 

planning permission as it now has been, providing there is no condition 
associated with the car park use.   
 

7.104 The County Highway Authority has also raised concerns over the footway along 
Town Lane, situated to the west of the development would not be suitable for 
residential access.  The CHA has therefore requested that a condition is attached 
to the decision notice requiring the submission of a scheme detailing pedestrian 
improvements along Town Lane.  As the private section of Town Lane has been 
included in the red line in the site location plan, it is considered that such a 
condition could be attached to the decision notice, and such a condition would 
meet the 6 tests set out in the NPPF.   
 

7.105 Given the comments of Highways England and the County Highway Authority, it is 
considered that the proposal would be in accordance with the requirements of 
Policy CC2 and the NPPF in highways terms and subject to conditions, is 
acceptable on transportation grounds.  
 
 
Waste & Recycling 
 

7.106 Policy EN1 of the CS&P DPD, states that proposals for new development will 
need to demonstrate that they will incorporate provision for the storage of waste 
and recyclable materials. 
 

7.107 The Spelthorne document entitled ‘Guidance on the storage and collection of 
Household Waste’ states that for flats communal wheeled bins should be provided 
for refuse and recycling and should have a total capacity based on 1 x 240 litres 
for refuse per unit and 1 x 240 litres for recycling per unit.  On this basis a 
development for 127 units would normally be required to have a minimum bin 
storage capacity of 30,480 litres for refuse and 30,480 litres for recycling.    
 

7.108 The applicant has submitted a waste management plan (1345/PL/0105), which 
confirms that the development would incorporate: 
 

• 4 x 5000 litre general waste bins (20,000 litres in total), 

• 4 x 5000 litre recycling bins (20,000 litres in total)  

• 2 x 3000 litre food waste bins (6,000 litres in total) 
 

7.109 This would fall short of the guidance outlined within the Spelthorne storage and 
collection of household waste document.  To overcome this shortfall, the plans 
state the refuse requirements for the scheme are based on an alternative weekly 
collection by the Council, with every second week a collection being arranged and 
paid for by the management company of Victory Place.  
 

7.103 The Council’s Head of Neighbourhood Services was consulted and confirmed 
capacity would be acceptable on the basis that the Council would collect bins 
fortnightly and the applicant’s management company would collect the bins on 
alternative weeks.  However, concerns were initially expressed as the bins would 
be doubled up and there would not be sufficient space either side of the bins 
leading to concerns as to how the bins would be emptied.  

 

Page 51



 
 

7.104 The applicant submitted an additional plan (1345/PL/1000 Rev B), which 
demonstrates that there would be a 0.5 metre gap either side of the bins.  On this 
basis the Council’s Head of Neighbourhood Services confirmed that the proposed 
development would be acceptable. 
 
 
Air Quality 
 

7.110 Policy EN3 of the CS&P DPD seeks to improve air quality within the Borough and 
minimise harm from poor air quality. 
 

7.111 The pollution control officer has requested the submission of a construction 
management plan, to include a dust management plan, to show how this would be 
managed during the demolition process.  This can be dealt with by means of a 
condition. 
 

7.112 The pollution control officer has recommended that at least 20% of proposed 
parking spaces contain electric charging points, in the interests of air quality.  A 
condition concerning electric car charging points has already been addressed 
above.  A further condition has also been recommended in relation to the 
submission of an asbestos survey in relation to the existing buildings.  The officer 
also commented on gas boilers, which will be attached as an informative. 
 
 
Contaminated Land 

 
7.113 The Council’s Environmental Health Department has requested that a condition is 

attached to the decision notice requiring the developer to submit a contaminated 
land desk study to identify any sources of land/water contamination, and where 
any sources are identified, a site investigation is required, as well as a written 
statement outlining remediation measures.  
 

7.114 Two further conditions have been requested, which would require the applicant to 
submit a remediation report and an asbestos survey relating to the existing 
buildings. It is considered that such conditions would meet the six tests set out in 
the NPPF. 
 
 
Archaeology 
 

7.115 The applicant has submitted a written scheme of investigation for an 
archaeological investigation, as well an archaeological evaluation. 
 

7.116 The LPA has consulted the County Archaeology Officer who noted that the 
archaeological evaluation was curtailed by a number of factors including previous 
gravel extraction, access restrictions, the presence of existing services and a 
series of subterranean tunnels.  However, the Archaeological Officer considered 
that the results of the evaluation were sufficient to determine that the site does not 
contain any features of archaeological significance, with the exception of the 
tunnels.   
 

Page 52



 
 

7.117 The Officer recommended that a condition be attached to the decision notice to 
secure the implementation of historic building recording and archaeological 
monitoring, to be conducted in accordance with a written scheme of investigation. 
 
 
Flooding 
 

7.118 The site is not located in a flood zone.  The Local Planning Authority consulted the 
Environment Agency, who raised no objections.  
 
 
Renewable Energy 
 

7.119 Policy CC1 of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will require residential 
development of one or more dwellings, and other development involving new 
building or extensions exceeding 100 square metres, to include measures to 
provide at least 10% of the development’s energy demand from on-site renewable 
energy sources unless it can be shown that it would seriously threaten the viability 
of the development.  
 

7.120 The applicant has submitted an Energy Statement with the submission.  This 
considers a number of measures for meeting renewable energy demand, 
including wind, photovoltaics, solar thermal systems, biomass heating, ground and 
air source heat pumps and combined heat and power.  The report proposes the 
use of photovoltaic panels.  A 65kWp array (equating to approximately 250 
panels), is proposed to ensure that over 10% of the development’s energy 
demand is met by on site renewable energy sources.   
 

7.121 The Council’s Sustainability Officer was consulted and stated that they are 
satisfied that the renewable energy requirement would be met. It is recommended 
that this is secured by condition. 
 
 
Biodiversity 
 

7.122 Policy EN8 of the CS&P DPD states that the Council will seek to protect and 
improve the landscape and biodiversity of the Borough by safeguarding Sites of 
international and national importance, ensuring that new development wherever 
possible contributes to an improvement in biodiversity avoiding harm to features of 
nature conservation interest.  The policy further states that permission will be 
refused where development will have significant harmful impacts on features of 
nature conservation interest.   
 

7.123 The applicant has undertaken an Ecological Appraisal, which has included a Desk 
Study and the conclusions of a Phase 1 Habitat Survey.  The report concludes 
that the development would not significantly impact nearby Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest, or Sites of Nature Conservation Importance.  It further stated 
that the site presently contains urban habitats with low ecological value. 
 

7.124 The applicant has also submitted a Bat Survey Report, which recorded no bats 
roosting at the site.  However, bats were observed commuting and foraging 
across the site and as a result the report recommends mitigation and 

Page 53



 
 

enhancement measures.  It is recommended that a condition is attached to the 
decision notice requiring the applicant to submit details enhancement measures 
prior to occupation of the development. 
 

7.125 The Local Planning Authority Consulted Natural England, who considered that the 
application would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of Staines Moor Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), which forms part of South West London 
Waterbodies Special Protection Area (SPA).  Natural England therefore has no 
objections.  
 

7.126 The Local Planning Authority also consulted the Surrey Wildlife Trust (SWT), 
which commented that the LPA should consult Natural England for advice on 
whether the application would comply with European Legislation.  The SWT 
further advised the LPA to consider where residents are likely to go for recreation 
in the locality as there is a risk green spaces could have their biodiversity affected 
by the residents of 127 new dwellings.  In response, it should be noted that some 
amenity space is being provided on site and a financial contribution is also being 
provided to improve nearby existing open spaces in the borough.  It is not 
considered that an objection could be sustained on the basis of future occupants 
impacts upon nearby green spaces.   
 

7.127 The SWT also requested a condition requiring the submission of a landscape and 
ecological management plan.  In response to conserving and enhancing 

biodiversity and geodiversity, the LPA recommends a condition requiring the 

applicant to submit further details of landscaping and a condition requiring 
biodiversity enhancement measures across the site.   
 

7.128 The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in biodiversity terms. 
 
 
Other Matters 

 
7.129 The LPA has notified Heathrow Safeguarding (HS), which has recommended that 

two informatives are attached to the decision notice relating to cranes and 
landscaping.   
 
 
The Planning Balance  
 

7.130 This development is proposing the redevelopment of a surplus car park that was 
formerly part of Ashford Hospital.  The scheme proposes the construction of 127 
residential dwellings in an urban area, which would significantly contribute to the 
Council’s 5-year housing supply.  The Local Planning Authority must make a 
planning judgement and determine whether this benefit would or would not 
outweigh any planning harm associated with the development.   
 

7.131 There are some shortfalls when the proposal is assessed against the LPA’s 
planning guidelines, most notably the separation distances to adjoining dwellings 
and shortfalls against BRE guidelines.  There are also shortfalls against the 
Council’s minimum Parking Standards.  
 

Page 54



 
 

7.132 In terms of separation distances, the development would incorporate first and 
second floor windows serving habitable rooms, within 7 metres of the side 
boundary of 18 Victory Close and within 11 metres of the side boundary of 1A 
Yeoman Drive.  The development would also incorporate windows and balconies 
serving habitable rooms in all storey’s of Block A, which would be situated 
approximately 18.2 metres from the rear elevation of the closet dwelling to the 
south of the site (13 Albain Crescent).  Additionally, there would be shortfalls in 
BRE guidance at 14 and 15 Albain Crescent and 40 Willowbrook Road.     
 

7.133 The decision maker must make a planning judgement as to whether these 
shortfalls would outweigh the benefits of the provision of 127 residential units in 
the urban area including the provision of 22 (17%) affordable housing units to help 
meet the housing needs of the borough.  The LPA is also unable to demonstrate a 
5-year housing supply and can only demonstrate a supply of 4.8 years.  The 
NPPF states that where a LPA is unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing supply, 
a ‘titled balance’ approach should be adopted, whereby planning permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development, when assessed against 
the NPPF as a whole.  On planning balance, when the application is viewed as a 
whole, it is considered that the benefits of the provision of 127 units in this urban 
location would outweigh the harm outlined above.  
 
Equalities Act 2010 
 

7.134 This planning application has been considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 
and associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to have 
due regard for: 

 
(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

 
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 

7.135 The question in every case is whether the decision maker has in substance had 
due regard to the relevant statutory need, to see whether the duty has been 
performed. 
 

7.136 The Council’s obligation is to have due regard to the need to achieve these goals 
in making its decisions. Due regard means to have such regard as is appropriate 
in all the circumstances. 

 
7.137 The LPA has received a letter of representation raising concerns that the 

applicant’s design and access statement makes reference to the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995 (as amended 2005), which is now out of date.  The 
applicant has submitted a letter dated 21 September 2020, to clarify that the 
development has been designed to accord with the Equality Act 2010, which 
supersedes the Disability Discrimination Act. 
 

Page 55



 
 

7.138 The development would incorporate lifts serving each floor of Block A & Block B, 
and the development would contain 6 disabled parking spaces (5%) across the 
development.  The NPPF defines people with disabilities as individuals that have 
a physical or mental impairment, which has a substantial and long term adverse 
effects on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities.  This can include 
but is not limited to, people with ambulatory difficulties, blindness, learning 
difficulties, autism and mental health needs.  It is considered that it would be 
possible for individuals with disabilities to access the development.   

 
Human Rights Act 1998 
 

7.139 This planning application has been considered against the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 

 
7.140 Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made 

representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end full consideration 
will be given to their comments. 

 
7.141 Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and 

family life and a right to the protection of property, i.e. peaceful enjoyment of one's 
possessions which could include a person's home, and other land and business 
assets. 

 
7.142 In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Spelthorne Local Plan and 

the NPPF and all material planning considerations, Officers have concluded on 
balance that the rights conferred upon the applicant/ objectors/ residents/ other 
interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol may be interfered 
with, since such interference is in accordance with the law and is justified in the 
public interest.  Any restriction of these rights posed by the approval of the 
application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider benefits of such a 
decision, is based upon the merits of the proposal, and falls within the margin of 
discretion afforded to the Council under the Town & Country Planning Acts. 
 
Finance Considerations 
 

7.143 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities are 
now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain development 
proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is considering 
whether or not to grant planning permission for planning applications which are 
being determined by the Council’s Planning Committee. A financial benefit must 
be recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Local Planning Authority’s 
decision on a planning application, but planning officers are required to indicate 
their opinion as to whether the benefit is material to the application or not.  

 
7.144 As the application site is located in CIL Zone 1 and as the scheme is providing in 

excess of 15 units and is subject to assessment against policy HO3, the 
application would not be liable to any CIL charges.  This is because the approved 
CIL charging schedule has a rate of £0 in Zone 1 where 15 or more units are 
proposed to which affordable housing applies. 
 

7.145 In consideration of S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the proposal 
would result in the following financial contributions: 

Page 56



 
 

 

• £35,000 be sought to improvements to existing off-site open spaces.  
 
These are considered to be material considerations in the determination of this 
planning application. The proposal will also generate a New Homes Bonus 
Business Rates and Council Tax payments which are not material considerations 
in the determination of this proposal  
 
Planning obligation 
 
Affordable housing, a commuted sum and a financial contribution are obligations 
negotiated and agreed to make acceptable this development which would 
otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. These would be secured by 
entering into a legal agreement with Knowle Green Estates Limited under section 
111 of the Local Government Act 1972 requiring it to enter into an approved form 
of section 106 agreement once it has taken an interest in the Land. This statutory 
power allows local authorities to enter into agreements which facilitate the 
discharge of it functions. This means that the planning permission will not be 
implemented until the section 106 agreement has been completed. The above 
proposed agreement ensures that the obligations are enforceable against the 
Land by Spelthorne Borough Council as Local Planning Authority and satisfies the 
requirement of the NPPF. 
 

8. Conclusions 
 
It is considered that the proposal makes effective use of urban land in a 
sustainable location. It would have an acceptable impact on the highway network 
and the level of parking is considered to be appropriate for this location with 
amenities and public transport opportunities within reasonable walking distance of 
the site. It meets the Borough’s recognised need for housing and provides units 
with a good standard of amenity. Therefore, the application is recommended for 
approval. 

 
9. Recommendation 

(A)  To GRANT planning permission subject to the completion of an appropriate 
agreement between Knowle Green Estates Limited being a developer/party 
with sufficient interest in the land and Spelthorne Borough Council being the 
local planning authority to secure the following Heads of Terms, delegated to 
the Planning Development Manager:  

1. To provide a minimum of  22 on site affordable rented units (17 x 2 bedroom x 
3 person, 4 x 2 bedroom x4 person, and 1 x 1 bedroom x 2 person): 

• Prior to the occupation of 50% of the residential units (not being the 
affordable units) to build and complete the affordable rented units and 
transfer these to a Registered Provider, unless otherwise agreed by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

  

• Prior to the occupation of the affordable rented housing units the 
transferee (or owner) shall enter into a Nominations Agreement in 
respect of the affordable rented housing (in order that the affordable 
housing meets local needs). 

 

Page 57



 
 

2. A Commuted Sum of £2,844 index-linked from completion of the agreement 
with payment due on first occupation;  

 
3. A financial contribution of £35,000 towards off-site open space improvements 

within Spelthorne. 
 

In the event that the Legal Agreement is not completed  

 

In the event that the Section 106 agreement is not completed to the satisfaction of 
the Local Planning Authority and/or the applicant does not agree an extension of 
time for the determination of the planning application, delegate to the Planning 
Development Manager in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning 
Committee the following:  

REFUSE the planning application for the following reasons:  

  

1. The development fails to provide a satisfactory provision of affordable housing 
to meet the Borough’s housing needs, contrary to Policy HO3 of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DPD 2009, and the principles set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

2. The development would provide an inadequate level of open space contrary to 
Policy CO3 of Policy CO3 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009. 

 

(B) In the event that the Section 106 agreement is completed to the satisfaction of 
the Local Planning Authority; GRANT subject to the following conditions: - 

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two 

years from the date of this permission.  
 

Reason: This condition is required by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 1345/PL/0001, 1345/PL/0006, 1345/PL/0007, 
1345/PL/0008, 1345/PL/0009, 1345/PL/0010, 1345/PL/0011, 1345/PL/0012, 
1345/PL/0013, 1345/PL/0014, 1345/PL/0017, 1345/PL/0016, 1345/PL/0018, 
1345/PL/0019, 1345/PL/0020, 1345/PL/0021, 1345/PL/0022,  1345/PL/0024, 
1345/PL/2002, 1345/PL/2001, 1345/PL/2007, 1345/PL/2004, 1345/PL/2003, 
1345/PL/2006, 1345/PL/2005, 1345/PL/0103, 1345/PL/0103, 1345/PL/0102, 
1345/PL/0101 (Received 17.07.2020) 1345/PL/1015 Rev A, 1345/PL/1023 Rev A 
(Received 17.11.2020) 1345/PL/0002 Rev A, 1345/ PL/1002 Rev A, 1345/ 
PL/1003 Rev A, 1345/ PL/1004 Rev A (Received 20.11.2020) 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.  
 

3 Details of a scheme of both soft and hard landscaping works shall be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation of any part 
of the development hereby approved.  This shall include a programme for the 

Page 58



 
 

implementation of the landscaping works. The approved scheme of tree and shrub 
planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved implementation 
programme. The planting so provided shall be maintained as approved for a 
minimum period of 5 years, such maintenance to include the replacement in the 
current or next planting season, whichever is the sooner, of any trees or shrubs 
that may die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, with others 
of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written 
permission to any variation. 

 
Reason:-.To minimise the loss of visual amenity occasioned by the development 
and to enhance the proposed development. In accordance with policies SP6 and 
EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009.  

 
4 The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 

space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the approved plans for 
vehicles to be parked and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave the 
site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking and turning areas shall be retained 
and maintained for their designated purposes. 

 
Reason: In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety, nor 
cause inconvenience to other highway users, and accord with the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 and policy CC2 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 
 

5 No development above damp course level shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the building(s) and surface 
material for the courtyard open space are submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall then be constructed in accordance with 
the approved materials and detailing. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
appearance of the development and the visual amenities and character of the 
locality in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
6 Details of the layout of the Play Areas and the equipment to be installed shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be constructed in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first occupation. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the proposed development complies with policy C03 of 

the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
2009 and section 8 (promoting healthy and safe communities) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
7 The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of the design 

of a surface water drainage scheme have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the planning authority. The design must satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and 
be compliant with the national Non Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS, 
NPPF and Ministerial Statement on SuDS. The required drainage details shall 
include:  

Page 59



 
 

 
a) The results of further infiltration testing completed in accordance with BRE 
Digest: 365 and confirmation of groundwater levels.  
b) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 1 in 30 & 1 
in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) storm events, during all stages of the 
development. The final solution should follow the principles set out in the 
approved drainage strategy.  
c) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a finalised 
drainage layout detailing the location of drainage elements, pipe diameters, levels, 
and long and cross sections of each element including details of any flow 
restrictions and maintenance/risk reducing features (silt traps, inspection 
chambers etc.).  
d) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than design 
events or during blockage) and how property on and off site will be protected. e) 
Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance regimes for the 
drainage system.  
f) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during construction and 
how runoff (including any pollutants) from the development site will be managed 
before the drainage system is operational. 
 
Reason: To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for SuDS and the final drainage design does not increase flood risk on 
or off site. 

 
8 Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out by 

a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the drainage system has been 
constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide the 
details of any management company and state the national grid reference of any 
key drainage elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction 
devices and outfalls). 

  
 Reason: To ensure the Drainage System is constructed to the National Non-

Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS. 
 
9 No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors 

in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of Historic Building 
Recording and archaeological monitoring, to be conducted in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of the archaeological potential of the site in accordance 

with Saved Policy BE26. 
 
10 Prior to the first use or occupation of the building’s hereby approved, a strategy 

shall be submitted and agreed with the Local Planning Authority, which details 
ecological mitigation measures, including but not limited to the provision of 
roosting opportunities for bats. The mitigation measures shall thereafter be 
retained to the agreed details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 

Page 60



 
 

Reason: To safeguard and protect important species using the site in accordance 
with policies SP6 and EN8 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
11 There shall be no direct access for vehicles (other than emergency vehicles) 

between the site and Greenaway Terrace, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety, nor 
cause inconvenience to other highway users, and accord with the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 and policy CC2 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 

  
12 A waste management strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority and shall be in operation prior to occupation of any of 
the buildings hereby approved and shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details, unless expressly agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason:-.To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance of 
the locality, in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009.  

   
 
 
13 Following construction of any groundwork and foundations, no construction of 

development above damp course level shall take place until a report is submitted to 
and agreed by the Local Planning Authority which includes details and drawings 
demonstrating how 10% of the energy requirements generated by the development 
as a whole will be achieved utilising renewable energy methods and showing in 
detail the estimated sizing of each of the contributing technologies to the overall 
percentage.  The detailed report shall identify how renewable energy, passive 
energy and efficiency measures will be generated and utilised for each of the 
proposed buildings to meet collectively the requirement for the scheme.  The 
agreed measures shall be implemented with the construction of each building and 
thereafter retained. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies with Policy 
SP7 and CC1 of the Spelthorne Development Plan Core Strategy and Policies 
DPD. 

 
14 Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the first floor windows 

on the southern elevation(s) of the units labelled House 109, House 110, House 
111, House 112 and House 113 in Block C, as shown in plan 1345/PL/1021 and 
1345/PL/1023, shall be obscure glazed and be non-opening to a minimum height of 
1.7 metres above internal floor level in accordance with details/samples of the type 
of glazing pattern to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These windows shall thereafter be permanently retained as installed. 

 

Page 61



 
 

 Reason: To safeguard the privacy of the adjoining properties in accordance with 
policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009. 
 

15 No development shall commence until a Construction Transport Management Plan, 
to include details of:  
(a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors  
(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials  
(c) storage of plant and materials  
(d) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway  
(e) on-site turning for construction vehicles has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the approved details shall be 
implemented during the construction of the development. 
 

Reason: In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety, nor 
cause inconvenience to other highway users, and accord with the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019 and policy CC2 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 
 

16 The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 
facilities for the secure covered parking of bicycles have been provided in 
accordance with plan 1345/ PL/1000 Rev B (Received 29.10.2020). Thereafter the 
said approved facilities shall be provided, retained and maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order that the development makes suitable provision for sustainable 
travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of Chapter 9 “Promoting 
sustainable transport” of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, and policies 
CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
17 Prior to the occupation of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted for the 

written approval of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the sustainable 
development aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Surrey County Council’s “Travel Plans Good Practice Guide”. Thereafter the 
approved Travel Plan shall be implemented upon first occupation of the site and for 
each and every subsequent occupation of the development, thereafter maintain and 
develop the Travel Plan to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order that the development makes suitable provision for sustainable 
travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of Chapter 9 “Promoting 
sustainable transport” of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, and policies 
CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
18 The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 

pedestrian and cyclist infrastructure, including but not limited to those shown on 
drawings 19008-01-006 Rev B, and AH-CP-19-P1 Rev A03, have been constructed 
in accordance with a detailed design to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The facilities shall include a comprehensive 
improvement to pedestrian facilities that provides an uninterrupted safe and 
convenient link between Greenaway Terrace and Town Lane (B378). Thereafter the 

Page 62



 
 

said approved facilities shall be permanently available to residents of the 
development and retained and maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In order that the development makes suitable provision for sustainable 
travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of Chapter 9 “Promoting 
sustainable transport” of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, and policies 
CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 
 

 
19 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until at least 

31 of the available parking spaces, including one for each of the proposed terraced 
houses, are provided with a fast charge socket (current minimum requirement: 7kw 
Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230 v AC 32 amp single phase dedicated supply) in 
accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority The scheme must also detail how 26 of the additional spaces will 
be provided with electricity for the future provision of EV charging points. 

 
Reason: In order that the development makes suitable provision for sustainable 
travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of Chapter 9 “Promoting 
sustainable transport” of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019, and policies 
CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 
 

 
20 No development shall take place until:- 

(i) A comprehensive desk-top study, carried out to identify and evaluate all 
potential sources and impacts of land and/or groundwater contamination relevant 
to the site, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
(ii) Where any such potential sources and impacts have been identified, a site 
investigation has been carried out to fully characterise the nature and extent of 
any land and/or groundwater contamination and its implications. The site 
investigation shall not be commenced until the extent and methodology of the site 
investigation have been agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
(iii) A written method statement for the remediation of land and/or groundwater 
contamination affecting the site shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of remediation. The method statement shall 
include an implementation timetable and monitoring  
proposals, and a remediation verification methodology. 
 

The site shall be remediated in accordance with the approved method statement, 
with no deviation from the statement without the express written agreement of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of future residents and the environment from the 
effects of potentially harmful substances. 
 
NOTE 
 

Page 63



 
 

The requirements of the above Condition must be carried out in accordance with 
current best practice.  The applicant is therefore advised to contact Spelthorne's 
Pollution Control team on 01784 446251 for further advice and information before 
any work commences.  An information sheet entitled "Land Affected By 
Contamination: Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning Requirements" 
proving guidance can also be downloaded from Spelthorne's website at 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 
 
In accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 

21 Prior to the first use or occupation of the development, and on completion of the 
agreed contamination remediation works, a validation report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason: To protect the amenities of future residents and the environment from the 

effects of potentially harmful substances. 
 

NOTE 
 
The requirements of the above Condition must be carried out in accordance with 
current best practice.  The applicant is therefore advised to contact Spelthorne's 
Pollution Control team on 01784 446251 for further advice and information before 
any work commences.  An information sheet entitled "Land Affected By 
Contamination: Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning Requirements" 
proving guidance can also be downloaded from Spelthorne's website at 
www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

 
In accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
22 No work shall take place until an asbestos survey has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  For the removal of asbestos 
containing materials: 
(a) A Risk Assessment and Method Statement is to be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, so that the removal and disposal of asbestos containing 
materials is appropriately managed.  
(b) The agreed methodology and mitigation measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details and a completion report (including waste 
disposal information) should be submitted for approval. 

 
 
 Reason: in the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with policies SP6 

and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

 
23 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) and 

Dust Management Plan (DMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The Dust Management Plan is to include (but not 
limited to) the mitigation measures outlined within Section 6 of the Air Quality 

Page 64



 
 

Assessment. Continuous monitoring of PM10 should be included in the DMP and 
must be undertaken during the demolition, earthworks and construction process.  

  

Reason: To protect the amenity of the local area. 
 
24 Window glazing shall be installed on the western elevation of Block A the elevations 

facing Tesco's service yard in accordance with the recommendations made by MZA 
Acoustics in their June 2020 Report (Issue/Revision 5). 

 
Reason: Reason: To ensure that occupiers of neighbouring premises do not suffer 
a loss of amenity by reason of noise nuisance. 

 
 
 INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT 
 

   
1 Access by the Fire Brigade 

Notice of the provisions of Section 20 of the Surrey County Council Act 1985 
is hereby endorsed on this planning permission. Copies of the Section may 
be obtained from the Council Offices or from County Hall. Section 20 of this 
Act requires that when a building is erected or extended, proper provision 
must be made for the Fire Brigade to have means of access to the building 
or to any neighbouring buildings. 
There are also requirements relating to access and facilities for the fire 
service contained in Part B of the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended). 

 
2 You are advised that the Council will expect the following measures to be 

taken during any building operations to control noise, pollution and parking: 
 

a) Work that is audible beyond the site boundary should only be carried out 
between 08:00hrs to 18:00hrs Monday to Friday, 08:00hrs to 13:00hrs 
Saturday with consideration of the nearby hospital and not at all on 
Sundays or any Public and/or Bank Holidays; 
(b) The quietest available items of plant and machinery should be used on 
site. Where permanently sited equipment such as generators are 
necessary, they should be enclosed to reduce noise levels; 
(c) Deliveries should only be received within the hours detailed in (a) 
above; 
(d) Adequate steps should be taken to prevent dust-causing nuisance 
beyond the site boundary. Such uses include covering stockpiles and 
exposed topsoil, the use of hoses to damp down stockpiles of materials, 
which are likely to generate airborne dust, to damp down during stone/slab 
cutting; and the use of bowsers and wheel washes. The applicant is 
encouraged to adopt the best practice mitigation measures for construction 
dust specified within the Institute of Air Quality Management Guidance on 
the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction; 
(e) There should be no burning on site; 
(f) Only minimal security lighting should be used outside the hours stated 
above; and 
(g) Building materials and machinery should not be stored on the highway 
and contractors' vehicles should be parked with care so as not to cause an 
obstruction or block visibility on the highway. 

Page 65



 
 

(h) The Pollution Control team should be consulted over placement of 
continuous PM10 monitoring and upon the methods of dust suppression 
and mitigation prior to the works. 

 
 

Further details of these noise and pollution measures can be obtained from 
the Council's Environmental Health Services Unit. In order to meet these 
requirements and to promote good neighbourliness, the Council 
recommends that this site is registered with the Considerate Constructors 
Scheme - www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration 

 
It should be noted that under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Councils can serve an abatement notice on people responsible for statutory 
nuisances. This may require whoever’s responsible to stop the activity or 
limit it to certain times to avoid causing a nuisance and can include specific 
actions to reduce the problem. 

 
 

3 The applicant is advised that the essential requirements for an acceptable 
communication plan forming part of a Method of Construction Statement 
are viewed as:  
(a) how those likely to be affected by the site's activities are identified and 
how they will be informed about the project, site activities and programme;  
(b) how neighbours will be notified prior to any noisy/disruptive work or of 
any significant changes to site activity that may affect them;  
(c) the arrangements that will be in place to ensure a reasonable telephone 
response during working hours;  
(d) the name and contact details of the site manager who will be able to 
deal with complaints; and   
(e) how those who are interested in or affected will be routinely advised 
regarding the progress of the work. Registration and operation of the site to 
the standards set by the Considerate Constructors Scheme 
(http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/) would help fulfil these requirements. 

 
4 The minimum depth of clean topsoil should be 150mm for adequate rooting 

depth for grasses areas, for landscaping the minimum is 300mm and for 
residential back gardens 600mm. If insufficient capping space is present 
then excavations may be required to meet the required depth without 
raising the profile of the land. 

 
In the residential garden areas all hot spots should be remediated with at 
least 600mm of clean cover with a suitable geotextile or deter to dig base 
beneath the clean materials and cover area.  

 
5 If proposed works result in infiltration of surface water to ground within a 

Source Protection Zone the Environment Agency will require proof of 
surface water treatment to achieve water quality standards. If there are any 
further queries please contact the Flood Risk Asset, Planning, and 
Programming team via SUDS@surreycc.gov.uk. Please use our reference 
number in any future correspondence. 

 
6 Landscaping 

Page 66

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/


 
 

 
The development is close to the airport and the landscaping which it 
includes may attract birds which in turn may create an unacceptable 
increase in birdstrike hazard. Any such landscaping should, therefore, be 
carefully designed to minimise its attractiveness to hazardous species of 
birds. Your attention is drawn to Advice Note 3, ‘Potential Bird Hazards: 
Amenity Landscaping and Building Design’ (available at 
http://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-safety/ 

 
7 Cranes 

Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible that a crane 
may be required during its construction. We would, therefore, draw the 
applicant’s attention to the requirement within the British Standard Code of 
Practice for the safe use of Cranes, for crane operators to consult the 
aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome. This 
is explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction 
Issues’ (available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/policy-campaigns/operations-
safety/) 

 
8 The applicant's attention is drawn to the ACPO/Home Office Secured by 

Design (SBD) award scheme, details of which can be viewed at 
www.securedbydesign.com. 

 
9 Cadent have identified operational gas apparatus within the application site 

boundary. This may include a legal interest (easements or wayleaves) in 
the land which restricts activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. 
The Applicant must ensure that proposed works do not infringe on Cadent’s 
legal rights and any details of such restrictions should be obtained from the 
landowner in the first instance.  

  
If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the gas apparatus 
then development should only take place following a diversion of this 
apparatus. The Applicant should contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team at 
the earliest opportunity to discuss proposed diversions of apparatus to 
avoid any unnecessary delays. 

  
If any construction traffic is likely to cross a Cadent pipeline then the 
Applicant must contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team to see if any 
protection measures are required. 

  
All developers are required to contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team for 
approval before carrying out any works on site and ensuring requirements 
are adhered to.  

  
Email: plantprotection@cadentgas.com Tel: 0800 688 588 

 
10 The applicant is advised that gas fired boilers should meet a minimum 

standard of less than 40mgNOx/kWh. All gas fired CHP plant should meet 
minimum emissions standards of 250mgNOx/NM3 for spark ignition 
engines. Note other limits apply for gas turbine or compression ignition 
engines. 

 

Page 67

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/J-9sCkZvoTWn0XH2w603?domain=aoa.org.uk/
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/nYJrCOyxZu5knAhEs06c?domain=aoa.org.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/nYJrCOyxZu5knAhEs06c?domain=aoa.org.uk
http://www.securedbydesign.com/
mailto:plantprotection@cadentgas.com


 
 

11 Any lighting for the proposed development should be designed in line with 
the Bat Conservation Trust guidelines on artificial lighting and wildlife (Bat 
Conservation Trust 2018) to minimise adverse impacts on bats in the 
surrounding area. 

 
12 BEFORE carrying out any work you must:  

  
(i) Note the presence of an Above Ground Installation (AGI) in proximity 

to your site. You  must ensure that you have been contacted by 
Cadent and/or National Grid prior to undertaking any works within 
10m of this site.  

  
(ii) Carefully read these requirements including the attached guidance 

documents and maps showing the location of apparatus.  
 

(iii) Contact the landowner and ensure any proposed works in private 
land do not infringe Cadent and/or National Grid's legal rights (i.e. 
easements or wayleaves). If the works are in the road or footpath the 
relevant local authority should be contacted.  

 
(iv) Ensure that all persons, including direct labour and contractors, 

working for you on or near Cadent and/or National Grid's apparatus 
follow the requirements of the HSE Guidance Notes HSG47 -  
'Avoiding Danger from Underground Services' and GS6 ‘Avoidance 
of danger from overhead electric power lines'. This guidance can be 
downloaded free of charge at http://www.hse.gov.uk  

 
(v) In line with the above guidance, verify and establish the actual 

position of mains, pipes, cables, services and other apparatus on 
site before any activities are undertaken. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 68



Site Location Plan 
 

 
 
Block A Proposed Elevations 
 

 
 
 

Page 69



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

 
 
Proposed Elevations Block B 
 

 
 

Page 71



 
 

  
 
Proposed Elevations Block C  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 73



Proposed Site Layout Plan 
 

 
 

Page 74



14.4m

T
ham

es S
ide

To
w
in
g 
P
at
h

Landing Stage

D
ef

R
IV
E
R
S
ID
E
 C
LO

S
E

110

11
7

6
76

29
28

12

84b

71

12

18

67

72

17a

12
a

78
a

33

28a

16

66

84

23

84a

14

89

85

17

78

79

3

Sub Sta

Post

La
nd
in
g 
S
ta
ge

Landing Stage

La
nd
in
g 
S
ta
ge

© Crown copyright and database rights2019 Ordnance Survey100024284. ¯Scale: 1:1,250

20/00876/HOU- 18 Riverside Close, Staines-upon-Thames.TW18 2LW

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee                             

6 January 2021 

 
 

Application Nos. 20/00876/HOU 

Site Address 18 Riverside Close, Staines-upon-Thames, TW18 2LW 

Proposal The erection of a new boundary wall and gate at the western boundary 

Applicant Mr Andy Ash 

Ward Riverside and Laleham  

Call in details The application has been called in by Councillor Harman as a result of 
concerns over the impact upon the character of the area. 

Case Officer Matthew Churchill  

Application Dates 
Valid: 10.08.2020 Expiry: 05.10.2020 

Target: Extension of 
time agreed 

Executive 
Summary 

This application is seeking planning permission for the erection of a wall 
and gates at the west of 18 Riverside Close, which would front onto 
Riverside Drive.  The wall and gates are located between the existing 
garage and northern boundary wall and have been partially constructed, 
although the gates have not been installed. 
 
The application was originally considered by the Planning Committee in 
November and was deferred at that meeting.  The committee requested 
more information be sought on whether the proposed wall and gates 
would project further towards the roadway than the previous fence and 
gates, which were removed prior to the construction of the current garage 
and for the distances to be re-checked. 
 
Following the November Planning Committee, the applicant has 
submitted an overlay plan, which plots the location of the previous fence 
and gates against the location of the proposed wall and gates.  This 
demonstrates that the proposed wall and gates would be largely sited 
slightly further from the roadway than the previous fence and gates, 
although the two columns do project marginally further towards the 
roadway (approximately 1-2 cm).  Planning Officers have visited the site 
since the November Committee and are satisfied that the overlay plan 
shows the current wall in the correct location.    
 
The proposed wall would measure a maximum height of 2.082 metres 
and would incorporate white render.  The application also proposes the 
installation of cedar gates.   
 
It is considered that the proposal would have an acceptable impact upon 
the character of the area.  Walls, fences and gates are not uncommon 

Page 77



 
 

features in this part of Riverside Drive and it is not considered that the 
wall and gates would be out of keeping with the surrounding locality.   
 
The wall and gates are also considered to have an acceptable impact 
upon the light, privacy and amenity of all neighbouring and adjoining 
dwellings.  The wall and gates are further considered to have an 
acceptable impact upon the roadway given the siting of the previous 
fence and gates.   
 
The wall and gates are considered to be in accordance with the Council’s 
planning policies and guidance and the application is recommended for 
approval.   
  

Recommended 
Decision 

 

This application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 

 MAIN REPORT 

1. Development Plan 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document (CS&P DPD) 2009 are considered relevant to 
this proposal: 

➢ SP1 - Location of Development  

➢ SP6 – Maintaining and Improving the Environment 

➢ EN1 - Design of New Development 

➢ LO1 – Flooding 

➢ CC2 - Sustainable Travel  

➢ CC3 - Parking Provision 

 

1.2 Also relevant is the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on 
the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential Development, 
2011, and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2019. 

 

2. Relevant Planning History 

The relevant planning history of 18 Riverside Close is outlined in the table 
below: 
 

Application No. Proposal Decision 

PLAN N/FUL/75/712 Erection of a two-storey side 
extension measuring 
approximately 14 ft 9 ins (4.5 m) 
by 31 ft 2 ins (9.5 m) to provide 
new lounge with bedroom and 
bathroom over. 

Grant 
Conditional 
24.11.1975 

Page 78



 
 

98/00164/FUL Erection of garage at front Grant 
Conditional 
11.05.1998 

98/00571/FUL Erection of rear conservatory. Grant 
Conditional 
17.11.1998 

18/01573/HOU Erection of a two-storey side 
extension following removal of 
existing garage, the erection of a 
first-floor extension to the eastern 
elevation, and roof alterations 
including the installation of two 
east facing and three west facing 
dormers following removal of 
existing dormers. 

Grant 
Conditional  
07.01.2018 

19/00160/CPD Certificate of Lawfulness for the 
proposed development of a 
single storey extension to the 
western elevation (following 
removal of existing conservatory) 

Grant Certificate 
01.04.2019 

19/00186/HOU Erection of a detached garage 
following demolition of existing 
garage. 

Grant 
Conditional 
08.04.2019 

20/00874/RVC Variation of Condition 2 
(approved plans) imposed upon 
planning permission 
19/00186/HOU, to allow for 
alterations to the garage to 
include an increase in eaves 
height, the installation of 3 roof 
lights and alterations to proposed 
window and door openings. 

Grant 
Conditional 
13.11.2020 

 
3. Description of Current Proposal 
 
3.1 The application site is occupied by a two-storey detached dwelling that is 

situated in Riverside Close in Staines-upon-Thames. The property has street 
frontages at both the front and rear of site, with a garage and off-street 
parking contained at the front of the dwelling.  A further garage is under 
construction at the rear of the site fronting onto Riverside Drive.  This was 
originally granted planning consent in April 2019 (19/00186/HOU) but was 
constructed at variance to the approved plans.  The deviations away from the 
approved plans were granted planning permission in November 
(20/00874/RVC).   A number of further planning permissions have recently 
been granted at the property and the main dwelling is currently being 
extended. 
 

3.2 The surrounding dwellings in Riverside Close are predominantly detached or 
semi-detached and are set over two storeys.  The properties located to the 
west of the site, whilst being situated in Thames Side and facing the River 
Thames, generally contain a form of road frontage onto Riverside Drive.  A 
number of surrounding properties in both Thames Side and Riverside Close 

Page 79



 
 

contain ancillary outbuildings and garages at the rear.  Some of the 
surrounding dwellings also contain driveways, fences, gates and parking 
areas, which adjoin the roadway.  Other properties contain grass verges, 
which leave a visual gap to the roadway.    
 

3.3 The application proposes the erection of a wall and gates at the western 
boundary that would measure a maximum height of 2.082 metres.  The wall 
has been partially constructed and once complete would incorporate white 
render.  The gates once installed would be cedar.   
 

3.4 The applicant has provided an overlay plan to show the relationship between 
the previous fence and gates and the current proposal.  This demonstrates 
that the previous fence and gates were largely situated slightly further towards 
the roadway than the current wall and gates, although the proposed columns 
would project marginally (1cm-2cm) further towards the roadway.  The 
Council’s Planning Officers have visited the site and are satisfied that the 
overlay plan shows the current wall, which has been partially constructed, in 
the correct location.  The location of the original gates and fence has been 
shown in red, with the proposed wall and fence shown in black. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



 
 

4. Consultations 

 

 

5. Public Consultation 

5.1 The Local Planning Authority has consulted the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties. A total of letters 8 of representation have been received, which 
object to the proposal on the following grounds: 

 

• The boundary wall would not make a positive contribution to the street 
scene or character of the area and would encroach on the building line. 

• The proposal would be contrary to property deeds (Officer Note: this is 
not a planning matter). 

• The wall and gate are overbearing. 

• The wall projects beyond the boundary (Officer Note: The location of 
the boundary is a civil matter). 

• Flooding concerns. 

• Concerns the planning department are not being fair and objective in 
the determination of this application (Officer Note: the application is 
being determined against the relevant planning policies and guidance). 

• There may be damage to parked vehicles (Officer Note: this is not a 
planning matter). 

• The boundary gate is a dominant feature. 

• The scheme reduces the width of the highway (Officer Note: The wall 
and gates are in a similar position to the previous fence and gates). 

• Concerns over access to the road for emergency vehicles. 

• The area was previously used as a footway. 

• A car may not be able to turn in the site. 

• Work has already taken place. 

 

5.2 It should be noted that the Council received revised plans during the 
application process, which were advertised to the occupiers of neighbouring 
and adjoining dwellings on 06.10.2020.  Further plans were also on 
21.10.2020, which clarify the position of the northern boundary wall.  It was 
not considered necessary to re-advertise such plans, as they do not materially 
alter the proposal.   

 

Consultee Comment 

Environmental Health  No comments 

County Highway Authority  The site is accessed from Riverside 
Close, which is a private road and falls 
outside of the County Highway 
Authority’s jurisdiction.   

Page 81



 
 

6. Planning Issues 
 

➢ The character and appearance of the development 
➢ Amenity 
➢ Parking provision  
➢ Flooding 

 
7. Planning Considerations 

 
Design & Appearance  

 
7.1 Policy EN1 of the CS&P DPD, states that the LPA will require a high standard 

in the design and layout of new development.  The policy further states that 
development proposals should demonstrate that they will create buildings and 
places that are attractive with their own distinct identity, and should make a 
positive contribution to the street scene and character of the area in which 
they are situated, paying due regard to the scale, height, layout, materials and 
other characteristics of adjoining buildings and land. 
 

7.2 The NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that developments 
add to the overall quality of the area, are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout, and appropriate and effective landscaping, and are 
sympathetic to the local character and history and surrounding built 
environment, whilst not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or 
change. 
 

7.3 It is considered that the wall and gates have an acceptable impact upon the 
character of the area.  It is noted that gates, walls and fences are prevalent 
features in Riverside Drive, and the siting, scale and maximum 2.082 metre 
height of the wall and gates is not considered to cause undue harm to visual 
amenity.  The proposed materials consisting of white render and cedar gates 
are also considered to have an acceptable visual impact. 
 

7.4 Some of the surrounding properties in Thames Side and Riverside Close, 
which incorporate vehicle accesses onto Riverside Drive, contain fences, 
gates, walls, driveway areas and parking areas, which project up to the 
roadway.  Other properties contain grass verges which creates a gap to the 
roadway.  Given this, the siting of the wall and gates is not considered out of 
keeping with the surrounding locality, particularly when viewed in the context 
of the previous wall and gates, which were situated in a similar position.       
 

7.5 The wall and gates are therefore considered to be in accordance with the 
requirements of policy EN1 and the NPPF in design terms. 
 
 

The Amenity of Neighbouring Occupiers 
 

7.6 Policy EN1 of the CS&P DPD states that proposals for new development 
should demonstrate that they will achieve a satisfactory relationship to 
adjoining properties avoiding significant harmful impacts in terms of loss of 
privacy, daylight or sunlight, or overbearing effect due to bulk proximity or 
outlook. 

Page 82



 
 

 
7.7 The wall and gates would be situated in a similar position to the previously 

removed gate and fence.  It is not considered that they would have an 
adverse impact upon the light, privacy or amenity of any neighbouring and 
adjoining dwellings.  It is also considered that the works would not have an 
overbearing impact upon the occupiers of any surrounding properties.  
 
 
Parking Provision & Highway Impacts 
 

7.8 Policy CC2 of the CS&P DPD states that the LPA will seek to secure more 
sustainable travel by only permitting traffic generating development where it 
can be made compatible with transport infrastructure in the area taking into 
account access and egress to the public highway and highway safety.  
Additionally, policy CC3 states that the LPA will require that sufficient 
provision is made for off-street parking in accordance with its Parking 
Standards. 
 

7.9 The NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact upon highway 
safety or if the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 
 

7.10 The wall and gates with the exception of the columns would largely be 
situated slightly further from the roadway than the previous wall and gates.  
The columns would project marginally (1cm-2cm) further towards the 
roadway, although this is not considered to result in any significant planning 
harm. The wall and gates would be of a similar height to the previously 
removed wall and fence.  The applicant has also submitted a vehicle tracking 
plan, which demonstrates it would be possible for a vehicle to leave and enter 
the site using the gates.  
 

7.11 It is noted that the LPA has received a number of letters of representation 
raising concerns that the wall and fence would reduce the roadway and 
footpath.  The wall and gates would be situated in a similar position to the 
previous wall and fence and would not reduce the width of the roadway.  It 
should also be noted that some of the properties in Riverside Close and 
Thames Side containing parking areas, driveways, fences, walls and gates 
that project up to the roadway of Riverside Drive and some properties 
containing grass verges, which leave a gap to the roadway. 
 

7.12  It The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with policy CC2 
and CC3.  
 

Flooding 
 
7.13 The application site is located in the 1 in 100 year flood event area (flood 

zone 3a).  The conditions recommended by the Environment Agency in its 
Standing Advice are recommended to be attached to the decision notice.  
These conditions are regularly attached to proposals for outbuildings and 
domestic extensions in the borough, which are located in flood zone 3a.  The 

Page 83



 
 

proposal is considered to be in accordance with policy LO1 provided that 
these conditions are adhered too. 
 

7.14 It is noted that a letter of representation has been received, which raises 
concerns that other planning proposals in Riverside Close have been rejected 
on flooding grounds.  Whilst specific application numbers have not been 
provided, it is noted that the flood risk varies across Riverside Close with 
some properties being situated in the 1 in 1000 year flood event area (flood 
zone 2), which is of lower flood risk than the application site, and a significant 
number of properties being located in the 1 in 20 year flood even area (flood 
zone 3b) which is the highest level of flood risk.  In any event each planning 
application must be determined on its own particularly planning merits and the 
wall and gates are considered to be acceptable in flooding terms.     
   
Other Matters 
 

7.15 The LPA has received a total of 8 letters of representation in objection to the 
proposal.  Of the objections not already covered in this report, requirements in 
the property’s deeds fall outside of planning legislation and would not be a 
planning reason to justify a recommendation for refusal.    
 
Equalities Act 2010 
 

7.16 This planning application has been considered in light of the Equality Act 
2010 and associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is 
required to have due regard to: 
 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The question in every case is whether the decision maker has in substance 
had due regard to the relevant statutory need, to see whether the duty has 
been performed. 
 
Given the nature of the proposal, the wall and gates are not considered to 
impede accessibility to the site for disabled individuals.  
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
 

7.17 This planning application has been considered against the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

7.18 Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made 
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end full 
consideration will be given to their comments. 
 

Page 84



 
 

7.19 Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and 
family life and a right to the protection of property, i.e. peaceful enjoyment of 
one's possessions which could include a person's home, and other land and 
business assets. 
 

7.20 In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Spelthorne Local Plan 
and the NPPF and all material planning considerations, Officers have 
concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon the applicant/ objectors/ 
residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol 
may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law 
and is justified in the public interest.  Any restriction of these rights posed by 
the approval of the application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the 
wider benefits of such a decision, is based upon the merits of the proposal, 
and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the 
Town & Country Planning Acts. 
 
Finance Considerations 
 

7.21 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities 
are required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain development 
proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is considering 
whether or not to grant planning permission for planning applications which 
are being determined by the Council’s Planning Committee. A financial benefit 
must be recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Local Planning 
Authority’s decision on a planning application, but planning officers are 
required to indicate their opinion as to whether the benefit is material to the 
application or not.  
 

7.22 In consideration of S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, the proposal 
is not CIL liable. 
 

8. Conclusions 
 
8.1 It is noted that walls, gates and fences are prevalent features in Riverside 

Drive.  Some of the properties in Thames Side and Riverside Close contain 
walls, gates, fences, driveways and parking areas that project up to the 
roadway of Riverside Drive, other properties contain grass verges that create 
a gap to the roadway.  The siting and scale of wall and gates is considered to 
have an acceptable impact upon the character and appearance of the area in 
the context of surrounding walls, gates and fences and the fence and gates it 
would replace. 
 

8.2 The wall and gates are considered to have an acceptable impact upon 
amenity of all neighbouring and adjoining properties owing to their siting, 
scale and location.  
 

8.3 The applicant has provided an overlay plan to demonstrate that the wall and 
gates are situated in a similar position to the previous wall and gates.  As 
such it is not considered that there would be an adverse impact upon the 
highway.  The wall and gates area also considered to have an acceptable 
impact upon the 1 in 100-year flood event area.  The application is therefore 

Page 85



 
 

considered to be in accordance with policies EN1, LO1, CC2 and CC3 and is 
recommended for approval subject to the following conditions: 

 
9. Recommendation 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 05-EX-GAR-000 Revision 15, 05-EX-GAR-001 
Revision 15, 05-PR-GAR-000 Revision 15, 05-PR-GAR-001 Revision 15, 
(Received 22.09.2020) 02-PR-GAR-000 Revision 17, 03-EX-GAR-000 
Revision 17, 03-PR-GAR-000 Revision 17 (Received 21.10.2020) 05-PR-
GAR-002 Revision 17 (Received 30.10.2020) 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.  
 

2 There shall be no raising of existing ground levels on the site within the area 
liable to flood, other than in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding due to impedance of flood 

flows and reduction in flood storage capacity in accordance with policies SP1, 
SP7 and LO1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
3 All spoil and building materials stored on site before and during construction 

shall be removed from the area of land liable to flood upon completion. 
 
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding due to impedance of flood 

flows and reduction of flood storage capacity in accordance with policies SP1, 
SP7 and LO1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT 

 
1 Access by the Fire Brigade 

Notice of the provisions of Section 20 of the Surrey County Council Act 
1985 is hereby endorsed on this planning permission. Copies of the 
Section may be obtained from the Council Offices or from County Hall. 
Section 20 of this Act requires that when a building is erected or 
extended, proper provision must be made for the Fire Brigade to have 
means of access to the building or to any neighbouring buildings. 
There are also requirements relating to access and facilities for the fire 
service contained in Part B of the Building Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). 

 
2 The applicant's attention is drawn to the requirements of the Party Wall 

Etc. Act 1996 in relation to work close to a neighbour's 
building/boundary. The applicant's attention is drawn to the 
requirements of the Party Wall Etc. Act 1996 in relation to work close to 
a neighbour's building/boundary. 

  
 

Page 86



 
 

 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Overlay Plan of Previous Fence and Gates and Current 
Wall  

Existing Site Plan 

Page 89



Proposed Site Plan 

Existing Elevations (Previous Fence & Gate) 

Page 90



Proposed Elevations 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 

6 January 2021 

Planning Appeals Report  

List of Appeals Submitted between 01 October 2020 and 09 December 2020 

Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 

Inspectorate 
Ref. 

Address Description Appeal Start 
Date 

20/00640/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3258584 102 Windmill Road, 
Sunbury on Thames, 
TW16 7HB 

21/10/20201 

1 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 6



Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 
 

 
Inspectorate 
Ref. 

 
Address 

 
Description 

 
Appeal Start 
Date 

20/00544/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3258989 18 Junction Road, 
Ashford, TW15 1NQ 

Erection of side extension with a 
gable end element that would have a 
similar height as the bungalow, the 
erection of a single storey rear 
extension and loft conversion 
including the installation of a 2 no 
rear facing dormers and 5 no 
rooflights to the front slope to provide 
additional habitable accommodation 
(following demolition of existing 
conservatory and partial demolition of 
a garage at the rear). Proposed new 
access via Junction Road. 

21/10/20202 

20/00690/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3259468 7 Conway Drive, 
Ashford, TW15 1RQ 

Erection of a two storey side and 
single storey front extension 
(following demolition of existing 
garage). 

21/10/20203 

20/00218/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3261719 The Mill Heathrow, 
Stanwell, TW19 6BJ 

 22/10/20204 

 
2 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 
 
3 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 
 
4 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 

P
age 94



Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 
 

 
Inspectorate 
Ref. 

 
Address 

 
Description 

 
Appeal Start 
Date 

19/00063/ENF APP/Z3635/C/20/3257865 1A Priory Stables, 
Chertsey Road, 
Shepperton, TW17 
9NU 

 04/11/2020 

20/00591/RVC APP/Z3635/W/20/3257970 The Boathouse, 
Sandhills Meadow, 
Shepperton, TW17 
9HY 

Variation of condition 9 (relating to 
the permitted use) of PA ref 
04/01184/FUL for the erection of the 
boat house, to allow up to 20% of the 
showroom space to be used for the 
fitting out, storage and sale of camper 
vans as shown on site location plan 
received on 29.05.2020. 

09/11/2020 

20/00350/RVC APP/Z3635/W/20/3260608 25 Church Street, 
Staines-upon-Thames, 
TW18 4EN 

 10/11/2020 

20/00457/HOU APP/Z3635/W/20/3259643 10 Park Road, 
Ashford, TW15 1EY 

Retention of an outbuilding 
(retrospective) 

10/11/2020 

 
 

P
age 95



Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 
 

 
Inspectorate 
Ref. 

 
Address 

 
Description 

 
Appeal Start 
Date 

19/01651/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3263544 Land To Rear Of 
39-51 High Street 
Stanwell 

Staines-upon-Thames 
TW19 7LJ 

Erection of a pair of two no. semi- 
detached dwellings with associated 
amenity space and parking. 

19/11/20205 

20/00588/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3257786 7 Vereker Drive, 
Sunbury on Thames, 
TW16 6HQ 

Erection of part two storey part single 
storey rear extension. partial 
conversion of garage to habitable 
space with new roof over and single 
storey side infill element. 

08/12/2020 

19/01651/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3263544 33 High Street, 
Stanwell,  
TW19 7LJ 

Erection of a pair of two no. semi-
detached dwellings with associated 
amenity space and parking. 

09/12/20206 

18/00243/ENF APP/Z3635/C/18/3218097 
APP/Z3635/C/18/3218098 

Land known as land 
lying to the west of 
Ferry Lane & Land 
adjacent to Magnolia 
Ferry Lane, 
Shepperton,  

Without planning permission, the 
making of a material change of use of 
the land to a mixed use comprising 
agriculture, storage of shipping 
containers, storage of miscellaneous 

09/12/20207 

 
5 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 
6 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 
7 Appeals withdrawn as 20/01052/CLD granted on 09/12/2020 for Certificate of Lawfulness for the existing use of the site as storage and for the distribution of 
film and television props for continuous 10 year period. 

P
age 96



Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 
 

 
Inspectorate 
Ref. 

 
Address 

 
Description 

 
Appeal Start 
Date 

TW17 9LH items including wooden barrels and 
other paraphernalia. 

P
age 97



Appeal Decisions Received 01 October 2020 – 02 December 2020 
 
 

Site 5 New Park Road, Ashford, TW15 1EG 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01400/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

The erection of a detached bungalow with habitable accommodation 
in the roof space, with associated parking and amenity space 
following subdivision of the plot. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed dwelling by reason of design and location, would 
represent and isolated 'backland' style development that would be 
out of keeping with the surrounding building pattern and grain of 
development, and would represent an incongruous feature in the 
surrounding landscape.  It would not pay due regard to the layout 
and characteristics of adjoining buildings and land and would not be 
sympathetic to the surrounding built environment.  it would also 
contain a rear dormer that would not be in adherence to the 
Council's guidelines on well-designed dormers.  The proposal would 
therefore cause harm to the character of the surrounding area and 
would be contrary to the requirements of policy EN1 of the 
Spelthorne Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
(2009) and the Supplementary Planning Document on Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development (2011), 
and the NPPF 2019. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/19/3243922 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

13/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector identified that the main issue was the effect of the 
proposal upon the character of the area. 
 
It was noted that the appeal site comprises various outbuildings 
behind an existing bungalow.  It was also noted that surrounding 
properties were a mixture of bungalows, semi-detached houses, 
block of flats and terraced houses.  However, the Inspector 
considered that there was a distinctive pattern of development in the 
area, with frontage dwellings and gardens or outbuildings/garages to 
the rear, which are subservient and domestic in scale. 
 
The proposed bungalow was considered to be a noticeable bulky 
feature, with a substantial box like dormer.   The Inspector 
considered that the appeal schemes backland location would be out 

Page 98



of keeping with the linear pattern of development in the area and the 
plots layout would be contrived. 
 
A backland property was acknowledged at the rear of the site, 
although planning permission was originally granted for a dwelling at 
this property in the late 1950s and was not subject to the 
assessment against current planning policies.  It was also 
acknowledged that dwellings had been granted permission that 
would form a part of Ostlers Drive, which the Inspector considers is 
a road with its own identity separate to New Park Road.  As such 
these planning permissions were considered to be materially 
different to the appeal scheme.   
 
The Inspector concluded that the development would harm the 
character and appearance of the area and would not make a 
positive contribution to the street scene having regard to scale, 
height, portions, building lines and layout, conflicting with policy 
EN1. 
 
It was further noted that the Council cannot provide a 5 year housing 
supply.  However, the Inspector considered that one dwelling would 
have a negligible benefit to boost housing supply, and the adverse 
impacts of granting planning permission would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
Framework taken as whole.  The appeal was therefore dismissed. 

 
 
 

Site 18 Glebe Road, Staines-upon-Thames, TW18 1BX 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00446/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

The erection of a detached outbuilding. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed outbuilding by reason of size, scale, height and siting 
would be over-dominant within the plot and would be out of keeping 
with the established surrounding building pattern, where there are 
no other comparably sized outbuildings.  As a result of the proposed 
scale, the outbuilding not make a positive contribution to the 
character of the area, or pay due regard to the scale, layout and 
characteristics of adjoining buildings and land.  The outbuilding 
would also be unsympathetic to the surrounding built environment 
and local character.  As a result of the outbuilding's layout and 
internal floor area, as well as the garage, and separate vehicular 
access from the main dwelling, it would also be tantamount to a 
separate unit of residential accommodation, which would be out of 

Page 99



out of keeping with the character and size of surrounding plots, and 
established linear pattern of development with street frontages. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to the objectives of Policy EN1 of the 
Spelthorne Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
(2009) and the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development (2011) 
and the NPPF. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3255429 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

14/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Allowed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that the main issue was the effect of the 
proposed development upon the character of the area. 
 
It was noted that the appeal property was a single storey detached 
dwelling, which was in the process of being extended.  The 
Inspector commented that surrounding dwellings are set back from 
the road with relatively large plots.  There is also a varied style of 
dwellings in the locality.  It was further noted that there are a number 
of ancillary outbuildings at the rear of existing properties. 
 
The Inspector commented that the proposed outbuilding would be of 
considerable size, bulk and footprint when compared to the 
floorspace of the host dwelling and in this respect would not be 
subordinate.  However, the Inspector considered that it would be 
largely hidden behind the existing dwelling and would not detract 
from the character of the area through overdominance or 
obtrusiveness.  The Inspector also commented that planning 
permission had been granted to extend the existing dwelling, which 
would further screen the outbuilding.  
 
It was further considered that the outbuilding would be of good 
modern design, drawing inspiration from the existing house in terms 
of its finished materials and external appearance.  It was also 
commented that the dwelling would retain a sizeable garden.  The 
outbuilding whilst relatively large, was not considered to be overly 
dominant or to introduce a development that would be out of 
keeping with the area. 
 
The Inspector therefore considered that the outbuilding would be in 
accordance with policy EN1 and the NPPF.  It was also commented 
that the Council’s concerns that there was potential for the 
outbuilding to be used as a separate dwelling, could be assessed in 

Page 100



a new planning application, as this would require planning 
permission. 
 
The appeal was therefore allowed. 

 
 
 

Site 96 Woodthorpe Road, Ashford, TW15 3JY 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00063/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Construction of a vehicle crossover 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

It has not been demonstrated that a vehicle can be safely 
manoeuvred onto the site, and parked in such a way that it is fully 
contained within the site and clear of the public highway. This is 
likely to lead to vehicles parked overhanging the footway, or turning 
manoeuvres on the public footway, creating conditions prejudicial to 
the safety of pedestrians, contrary to the objectives of the NPPF and 
Policies CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council's Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3251754 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

19/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Allowed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that a vehicle could be manoeuvred onto 
and parked within the frontage of the appeal property without 
overhanging and having to repeatedly pass over the adjacent 
pavement, resulting in no harm to pedestrians. The Inspector 
considered that there would be no conflict with Policy CC3 of 
Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. The Inspector also 
considered that the proposal would not run counter to the objectives 
of the National Planning Policy Framework in respect of highway 
and pedestrian safety. The Inspector did not consider the Council’s 
Policy CC2 material to this appeal. 

 
 
 

Page 101



Site Land To The Rear Of 55 Squires Bridge Road, Shepperton, TW17 
0JZ 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01727/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Proposed erection of pair of 2 storey 3 bedroom semi-detached 
houses 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

Character - The proposal represents an unacceptable 
overdevelopment of the site by virtue of  inadequate amenity space 
and  the front of the site being dominated by hardstanding and 
parking with insufficient space provided by for landscaping. 
Furthermore, the proposal would have a harmful impact on no. 53 
Squires Bridge Road in terms of overbearing impact and loss of 
privacy and a poor relationship with new semi-detached dwelling 
being constructed to the east of the site.  The proposal would 
therefore be out of character with the surrounding area and not 
make a positive contribution of the street scene. It would provide a 
poor standard of amenity for the occupiers and a poor relationship 
with neighbouring properties.  The development is therefore contrary 
to Policy EN1 and of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 and 
the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of Residential 
Extensions and New Residential Development April 2011. 
 
Tree - The proposed development would have an unacceptable 
impact to the long term viability of an Oak tree directly adjacent to 
the  site subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO 265/2020 - T1).  
The proposal would therefore be contrary to the objectives of Policy 
EN7 of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and Policies Development 
Plan Document (February 2009). 
 
Highways - The proposal, if permitted, would lead to an increase in 
vehicular traffic at the junction of Squires Bridge Road (D6272) and 
Squires Bridge Road (C233), where an insufficient level of visibility 
can be achieved. Visibility is restricted in the leading traffic direction, 
and an intensification in use of this junction would lead to conditions 
prejudicial to highway safety contrary to the objectives of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019), and Policy CC2 of 
Spelthorne Borough Council's Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3250469 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

19/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Page 102



Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The two semi-detached dwellings would be built in the rear gardens 
of 55, 55A and 55b Squires Bridge Road. 
 
The Inspector noted that the dwellings would be situated in 
significantly smaller plots than those of surrounding properties and 
would be perpendicular to existing properties on Squires Bridge 
Road. She agreed that this would be at odds with the Council’s SPD 
on the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011 which requires that the orientation of buildings 
should reflect the existing pattern of development. She also noted 
that the  dwellings would be situated in close proximity to the rear 
elevations and gardens of neighbouring dwellings resulting in a 
cramped appearance. Furthermore she noted that the front of the 
gardens would be dominated by hardstanding and there would be 
little scope to require soft landscaping. Overall she considered that 
the proposal would be at odds with the predominant pattern of 
development; have a poor relationship with surrounding properties; 
and would detract from the open, spacious and verdant character of 
the area. 
 
With regards to the impact of the proposal on the Oak tree with a 
Tree Preservation Order located on the boundary of the site,  the 
Inspector agreed that  even if it was possible to protect the tree 
during construction, its long-term health, viability and appearance 
would be harmed. She concluded that the proposal would have a 
harmful effect on the health and appearance of the Oak tree which 
would diminish the contribution which it makes to the character and 
appearance of the area.  
 
With regards to the impact of the proposal on the amenity of future 
occupants of the dwellings, the Inspector agreed that due to their 
internal floor space the dwellings would have cramped  internal 
living conditions for future occupiers.  She also noted that the 
proposed dwellings would fall significantly short of the requirements 
for private garden space against the SPD requirement. She 
concluded that the proposal provided insufficient private amenity 
space in terms of both quantity and quality to the detriment of the 
living conditions of future occupiers. 
 
In terms of impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties, 
the  Inspector noted that the  upper floor windows of the proposed 
dwellings would be situated in close proximity to and directly 
overlook the rear garden of No 53 resulting in a loss of privacy to the 
occupiers of No 53.  
Furthermore, she noted that the occupiers of No 55A currently have 
an outlook over their rear garden to the open space which would be 
replaced with an outlook onto a blank flank wall in close proximity to 
the rear garden. She therefore considered that the proposal would, 
reduce the outlook to the occupiers of No 55A and have an over-
bearing effect. 

Page 103



 
With regards to the impact of the proposal on highway safety, the 
Inspector considered that In the absence of  evidence, she was 
unable to conclude that the proposal would not have a harmful effect 
on highway safety. She considered that as such the proposal would 
be contrary to Policy CC2 of the CSP DPD which states that traffic 
generating development should only be permitted where it is or can 
be made compatible with the transport infrastructure in the area 
taking into account of highway safety.  
 

 
 
 

Site Land To The Rear Of 32, 34 And 36 Commercial Road, Staines-
upon-Thames, TW18 2QL 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/00679/PIP 

Proposed 
Development: 

Permission in principle for a maximum of 4 dwellings 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed dwellings would be situated within a 'dry island' and 
would not provide a dry means of safe access and egress for future 
occupiers, and would add to the problems of the emergency 
services during a major floor event, contrary to the objects of policy 
LO1, of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and Policies Development 
Plan Document (Feb 2009). 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/19/3242759 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

21/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector noted that a Permission in Principle application is the 
first stage to establish whether a site is suitable for development in 
principle and is limited to location, land use and amount of 
development. 

 
It was further noted that the appellant has applied for permission in 
principle for a minimum of 1 and a maximum of 4 dwellings on the 
site.  
 
The Inspector also acknowledged that updated flooding maps were 
published after the determination of the original planning application 

Page 104



and had shown that the appeal site is located in Flood Zone 2, 
where it was previously shown to be located in Flood Zone 2 and 
Flood Zone 3.  It was confirmed that the appeal would be 
determined on the basis of the most relevant and up to date 
information. 
 
The inspector identified that the main issue in determining whether 
the appeal site was suitable for housing was having regard for local 
and nation policies relating to development at risk of flooding. 
 
It was noted that the NPPF states that inappropriate development in 
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development 
away from the areas at highest risk.  Where development is 
necessary in such areas, it must be made safe for its lifetime without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. 

 
It was noted that in this instance, the appeal scheme proposed a 
’more vulnerable’ use in flood zone 2, which is an appropriate use in 
this flood zone. 
 
The Inspector recognised that the Council’s application of policy 
LO1 will be based upon latest flood risk data from the EA.  However, 
the evidence base for policy LO1 is now out of date given the latest 
changes to flood maps for Spelthorne.  As such, the Inspector was 
unclear whether land in both Flood Zone and Flood Zone 2 will be 
required to meet the borough’s housing needs.  The Inspector 
therefore considered that the NPPF should be afforded greater 
weight than policy LO1. 
 
The Inspector noted that a sequential test had not been submitted 
and considered that a sequential test would go to the heart of the 
acceptability of the scheme.  As sch it would not be suitable for this 
to be submitted at the technical details stage.   
 
In the absence of an up to date sequential test and substantive 
evidence that the development would not increase elsewhere the 
Inspector was unable to conclude that the proposed residential use 
is acceptable in this location.  As such the appeal was dismissed.  
 
The Inspector noted that the Council raised concerns over character 
and the County Highway Authority’s raised concerns over access to 
the site.  However, given the Inspectors decision to dismiss the 
appeal it was not considered necessary to consider this matter any 
further.   
 
The Inspector also confirmed that given the concerns over flooding, 
the assumption in favour of sustainable development did not apply in 
this instance. 

 
 

Page 105



 

Site Former Garages/Lock-Up Stores  
Station Approach 
Sunbury On Thames 
TW16 6SA 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01077/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of 2 no. 2 bed flats over three floors with landscaping 
following the demolition of the existing 3 no. lock up garage 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed development by reason of its design scale and siting 
would represent an overdevelopment of the site which would appear 
out of character It would have a poor relationship with the 
neighbouring property and garden at 3 and 4 Bracken Court in 
regards to loss of light and being overbearing. It would result in the 
reduction of a valuable natural landscaped area, including the 
removal of a preserved Horse Chestnut tree (T4), which will not 
make a positive impact on the street scene contrary to Polices EN1 
and EN7 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 and 
Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of New 
Residential Extension and New Residential Development 2011 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/19/3243283 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

26/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered the main issues to be the effects of the 
proposal on the character and appearance of the area and the living 
conditions of the occupiers of neighbouring property, having regard 
to outlook and light, along with the impact on the TPO trees. 
 
He noted that the appeal site comprises three garages and an area 
of landscaping, with modern neighbouring buildings, with first floor 
accommodation in the roof. He notes that within the landscaped 
area, there are trees protected by a TPO, which are part of a line of 
trees that continues beyond the other side of the site on land 
between the road and the station.  
 
The neighbouring Bracken Court building is low level and set back 
from the road with intervening landscaping. However the Inspector 
considered that the proposed development contrasts with this and 
would be substantial in scale and height, given the second floor 
would be within a steeply pitched roof with dormers and flat crown 

Page 106



above, and that a significant part of the building would be in close 
proximity to the road, due to the irregular shaped plot. The garden 
would be ‘noticeably smaller’ than that at Bracken Court. He 
concluded that the proposal would result in an overdevelopment of 
the site, ‘…with a prominent and overly imposing building which 
would be far more detrimental to the character and appearance of 
the area.’  
 
The proposal would also result in the removal of two protected trees. 
The Inspector noted that the appellant’s submitted reports indicate 
that retention of the tree is possible with some minor crown lifting to 
improve light penetration to the proposed garden. The Inspector 
stated however, that the horse chestnut tree has a significant sized 
canopy which would grow as it has a minimum of 40 years life 
remaining and to enable satisfactory light into the proposed garden, 
substantial tree works would be required which he considered would 
be, ‘…detrimental to the public amenity value of the tree.’ 
 
The Inspector noted that although future occupants would be aware 
of the protected tree, that, ‘…circumstances can change, especially 
when people live in a property, and therefore, this would not prevent 
requests from future occupiers.’  He goes on to say that although the 
Council will have formal control over works to the tree, in practice he 
considered that it is likely to be difficult to resist. Therefore, he 
concluded that the development would be likely to result in the 
significant reduction of this tree’s amenity value, and possibly its 
loss. He goes on to note that the tree is attractive due to its height 
and canopy size and that it, ‘…contributes positively, along with the 
other protected trees, to the sylvan character and appearance of the 
area,’ and that ‘…it visually breaks up the developed environs of the 
railway station and therefore, its loss would be significant. ‘  
 
He concluded that the development would harm the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area, would not respect and make a 
positive contribution to the street scene and character of the area, 
having regard to scale, height, proportions, building lines and 
layouts. In addition he noted that it would result in the significant 
reduction of a protected tree’s amenity value, contrary to Policies 
EN1 and EN7. 
 
Despite the position of the proposed residential building conflicting 
with the recommended separation distances between dwellings as 
set out in the SPD, given the fact that the building would be sited 
behind the remaining single storey garage and drive serving the 
neighbouring property, the Inspector did not consider that there 
would be a significant loss of outlook to the occupiers of 
neighbouring properties. The appellants submission of a day light 
sunlight survey demonstrated that the loss of sunlight to the garden 
would not be significant.  
 

Page 107



The Inspector went on to note that in this type of location with good 
access to facilities and services, the living conditions of future 
residents would not be adversely affected through having private 
outdoor space smaller than the minimum set out in the SPD and the 
living conditions of future residents would not be harmed by noise 
and disturbance. 
 
When looking at the Development Plan Balance, the Inspector noted 
that the proposal would boost housing supply in a location with very 
good access to facilities and services, including public transport. He 
goes on to note that the NPPF indicates design is a key aspect of 
sustainable development, ‘…however the unattractive and 
unsympathetic nature of the development would harm the character 
and appearance of the area and this would be significant, 
permanent and long-term.’ In addition he considered that two 
dwellings would only have a small benefit in boosting housing 
supply.  
 
Therefore, he concluded that the adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework 
taken as a whole. 

 
 
 

Site 10 Station Approach, Ashford, TW15 2QN 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01529/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Construction of a third floor to create 1 no. flat within a mansard roof 
and other associated alterations (including alterations to fenestration 
and addition of parapet wall at second floor). 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed new roof design would, by virtue of its scale, bulk and 
position appear visually obtrusive and out of character with the area 
and would fail to make a positive contribution to the street scene, 
contrary to Policy EN1 of the Spelthorne Development Plan Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document (February 2009) 
and the Supplementary Planning Document for the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development (April 
2011). 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3253447 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

27/10/2020 

Page 108



Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The appeal property comprises a ground floor commercial unit with 
4 flats over the first and second floors. It is sited on a prominent 
corner plot. The building has recently been extended upwards in the 
form of a mansard roof to provide residential accommodation. It is 
now proposed to further raise the height of the mansard and include 
an additional run of dormer windows to provide one additional unit.  
 
The Inspector stated that the proposal would result in a ‘’somewhat 
top-heavy building as the ‘roof’ element would be out of proportion 
with the overall scale of the building’.  She considered that it would 
have ‘an incongruous appearance’’.   
 
The Inspector noted the surrounding area is characterised by 
buildings of a variety of design, scale and massing. However she 
commented that whilst there are examples of mansard roofs 
alongside and opposite across Woodthorpe Road, they are of 
traditional mansard roof types containing one row of dormer 
windows in a single level. At predominantly 3 storeys, these 
buildings do not have the overall height and bulk of the host building 
with the proposed extended roof. She concluded that  proposal 
would result in a development that would not conform to the local 
aesthetic and form. 
 
Furthermore, she stated that buildings in prominent corner locations 
are important for creating recognisable and legible places and that 
new development should make a positive contribution to the street 
scene. She concluded that the appeal proposal would not do so. 
 

 
 
 

Site 26 Preston Road, Shepperton, TW17 0BG 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00527/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Conversion of existing garage and outbuilding into an annex with 
associated alterations. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed conversion and alterations to the existing outbuilding 
by reason of physical separation from the main dwelling house, 
layout, size, and provision of facilities to enable independent day to 
day living, and independent access from the main dwelling, would 
be tantamount to a separate self-contained unit of accommodation.  
A single storey, isolated 'backland' style flat roofed dwelling, would 

Page 109



be out of keeping with the clear and defined pattern, layout and 
characteristics of adjoining buildings and land.  It would also not be 
sympathetic to the surrounding local character and built 
environment.  The proposal would therefore contrary to the 
objectives of  Policy EN1 of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document (Feb 2009), the 
Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of Residential 
Extensions and New Residential Development (April 2011) and the 
NPPF (February 2019). 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3256622 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

30/10/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Allowed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector identified that the main issues were i) whether the 
proposal would be tantamount to a self-contained residential unit, 
and ii) if so, its effect on the character and appearance of the area. 
 
The Inspector noted that the appeal site is an outbuilding and 
garage to the rear of the main house, which is no longer readily 
accessible by car.  The Inspector also commented that the existing 
outbuilding almost fills the full width of the garden. 
 
The Inspector commented that the proposal would replace the 
existing single structure with an outbuilding that would have the 
same relationship with the main house, including a lack of any 
intervening screening and no changes to the access arrangements.  
 
The Inspector considered that there was no convincing evidence to 
suggest that the appeal scheme was tantamount to a self-contained 
residential unit.  The Council’s concerns regarding facilities were 
noted.  However, the Inspector considered that the annex and the 
main house would be so closely related, with no functioning way of 
providing a separate access, that it was not considered that the 
annex could practically function as a separate self-contained unit. 
 
The Inspector noted that the Councils’ concerns over the impact 
upon the character of the area solely related to the use of the annex 
as a separate self-contained unit.  As the annex was not considered 
to be self-contained, it was considered that there would be an 
acceptable impact upon character.  The appeal scheme was 
therefore found to be in accordance with policy EN1 and the appeal 
was allowed. 

 
 

Page 110



 

Site 21 Gaston Bridge Road, Shepperton, TW17 8HH 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00436/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of a part single storey, part two storey side and rear 
extension and single storey front extension 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed two storey side extension would by reason of 
projection to the northern boundary have an unacceptable terracing 
effect upon no.23 Gaston Bridge Road, and would be out of keeping 
with the character of surrounding properties and the clearly defined 
gaps between dwellings.  The extension would also have an 
overbearing impact upon the occupiers of no.23 Gaston Bridge 
Road, contrary to the objectives of Policy EN1 of the Spelthorne 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document (Feb 
2009), the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development (April 
2011) and the NPPF (February 2019). 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3257460 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

02/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector identified that the main issues were the effect of the 
proposal upon i) the character and appearance of the area and ii) 
the living conditions of the occupiers of no.23 Gaston Bridge Road 
with specific regard to any overbearing effect. 
 
The Inspector noted that the appeal site contains a detached two 
storey house, with an existing single storey flat roofed garage to the 
boundary of no.23 Gaston Bridge Road.  It was further noted that 
the form and scale of the dwelling is consistent with many of its 
neighbours.  It was also noted that the appeal site and its 
neighbours are somewhat open to view.   
 
The Inspector commented that given the consistent form and rhythm 
to the street provided by the layout and design of the houses, the 
appeal proposal would appear to close the gap to no.23 causing a 
terracing effect between the two properties.  This would be 
heightened by the curve in the road and the staggered relationship 
of the site to its neighbours. 
 

Page 111



The Inspector concluded that the proposal would cause harm to the 
character of the area, giving rise to a terracing effect contrary to 
policy EN1 and the Council’s SPD on design. 
 
In regards to the effect upon the neighbouring property, the 
Inspector commented that the appeal proposal would increase the 
projection of the boundary wall forwards and backwards relative to 
neighbouring windows in a substantial manner.  Given the 
orientation of the properties, and the overall increase in bulk and 
scale of the appeal site, the scheme was considered to result in an 
unacceptable overbearing impact and tunneling effect to the 
neighbouring windows. 
 
The proposal as therefore considered to be contrary to policy EN1 
and the appeal was dismissed. 

 
 
 

Site 19 Shortwood Avenue, Staines-upon-Thames, TW18 4JN 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00330/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Roof alterations to include a hip to gable extension, the installation of a 
rear dormer window and two roof lights to the front roof slope (As shown 
on plans: 19SA/04122017/REV-C-1/2 and 19SA/04122017/REV-C-2/2 
received 27.03.2020) 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed development would by reason of its scale, location and 
design, have an unacceptable impact on the character of the area and the 
symmetry with No 17 Shortwood Avenue. Furthermore, the development is 
considered to be unacceptably bulky and over-dominant. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 
2009 and the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 2011. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3256884 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

03/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Allowed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector states whilst the appeal development is clearly large, 
and does add bulk to the site they do not consider that it is so large 
to cause the harm to the character and appearance of the area. 
 

Page 112



Furthermore, the fallback position set out above and the relatively 
limited visibility from the front provides a significant impact on the 
decision.  

 
 

 

Site 35 High Street, Stanwell, TW19 7LJ 

Planning 
Application No: 

18/01729/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of 2no 2 bedroom semi-detached houses together with 
associated parking following demolition of existing building. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed development as a result of its location, with only one 
access to the site, results in a requirement for those without a 
vehicle to use a 19m long substandard vehicular access, with no 
pedestrian facilities. This is considered to represent an unnecessary 
conflict. A similar situation would arise for cyclists. The cumulative 
effect of this development combined with the other development site 
and other plots that may be brought forward in the future, would 
result in an unacceptable access arrangement that would be 
potentially dangerous for pedestrians and cyclists alike. The 
proposal is thereby contrary to Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and 
Policies DPD 2009 and the Supplementary Planning Document on 
the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011. 
 
The proposal by virtue of its location, layout and design provides 
inadequate waste and recycling facilities on site and availability of a 
safe area for collection and is therefore contrary to policy EN1 of the 
Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3255055 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

04/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Allowed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that the main issues in the appeal were 
highway safety and the adequacy of waste and recycling facilities 
and collection. 

 
In terms of highway safety, the Inspector noted that the access was 
narrow and is unlikely to allow cyclists, pedestrians and cars to pass 
each other while travelling in opposite directions. However, the 

Page 113



Inspector considered that as there was sufficient visibility for users 
of the access to view each other, for cars to wait at the High Street 
end of the access without blocking traffic and the lack of any 
objection from the County Highways Authority, the proposal would 
not have an adverse impact upon highway safety.  
 
The Inspector noted that refuse vehicles would not be able to 
access the site and therefore the refuse bins would need to be 
wheeled to be closer to the highway and subsequently returned, 
which was less than ideal. However, on the basis that this once a 
week and that this already occurring for an adjoining site, the 
Inspector concluded that adequate provision for waste and recycling 
was provided.  
 
The Inspector did not consider that any harm would arise from the 
cumulative impact of the piecemeal development of the site; that no 
harm would result on the amenity of neighbouring properties; that 
there were no ground stability or surface water concerns. Legal 
rights of way issues raised by third parties are not planning matters.  
 
Therefore, the Inspector concluded that the proposal would not have 
a significant effect upon highway safety and provided adequate 
refuse facilities and complies with Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy 
and Policies DPD 2009, the Supplementary Planning Document on 
the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework). 

 
 
 

Site 1 Everest Road, Stanwell, TW19 7EA 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01024/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of a part single storey, part two storey, front side and rear 
extension, including the installation of an additional dormer and roof 
light in the roof space 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed two storey side and rear extension by reason of 
depth, scale and design, would be overly-dominant and not 
subordinate and subservient to the host dwelling, and would have an 
unacceptable impact upon the character of the area and the 
character of the host dwelling.   The rear facing dormer would by 
reason of size, scale and detailed design, have an unacceptable 
impact and would be over-dominant and out of proportion within the 
roof form and would not be in adherence to the Council's guidance 
upon dormer design.  The cumulative impact of the proposed 
dormer and two storey side and rear extension is therefore be 

Page 114



contrary to Policy EN1, of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document (February 2009), the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 
Supplementary Planning Document (April 2011) and the NPPF. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/19/3243479 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

09/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector identified that the main issue surrounding the appeal 
proposal was the impact of the proposal upon the character of the 
host dwelling and the character of the area. 
 
It was noted that the appeal site was a two-storey, semi-detached 
dwelling with a single storey detached garage to the side of the 
driveway, to the front of the property.  It was also noted that the 
property benefits from a 6 metre single storey rear extension and a 
rear facing dormer, which were both constructed through permitted 
development and/or prior approval notification.   
 
The Inspector commented that as the first floor side extension would 
not be set back from the front elevation, it would unbalance the pair 
of semi-detached dwellings it forms a part of.   
 
It was noted the extension would incorporate a rear dormer that 
would not meet any of the dimension guidelines set out in the 
Council’s SPD.  The cumulative impact with the existing dormer, 
was considered to result in an incongruous, overly dominant feature 
in the rear of the property, in which the original roof would be 
completely lost visually.  
 
The Inspector considered that the second storey rear extension 
would have an awkward design that would not relate well to the 
existing dormer.  It was also considered to have been designed in a 
contrived manner, which does not relate well to the host property. 
 
The cumulative impact of the proposal was considered to completely 
engulf the host dwelling resulting in an unacceptable impact upon its 
character. Given the relatively open views of the site from the street 
scene the proposal was also considered to have an unacceptable 
impact upon the character of the area. 
 
It was noted that other extensions were bought tot the Inspectors 
attention, although it was commented that each case is considered 

Page 115



on its own merits and limited weight was given to the various 
examples. 
 
The volume of neighbouring support was also acknowledged, 
although as the development was found to be contrary to policy this 
was given limited weight.  The Inspector concluded that the appeal 
should be dismissed.  

 
 
 

Site 28 Hadrian Way, Stanwell, TW19 7HF 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01364/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of an outbuilding (retrospective) as shown on plan no. site 
location plan, existing block plan, proposed block plan, existing 
layout and proposed layout received on 10.10.2019 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The outbuilding by reason to its design, scale and location would be 
tantamount to a separate means of accommodation that would be 
out of character with the surrounding area and provide a poor 
standard of amenity for future occupiers. In addition the outbuilding 
is considered to have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and in particular a significant overbearing 
impact on the amenity of the occupiers of No. 24 Hadrian Way to the 
detriment of the enjoyment of their garden. The proposal would 
conflict with Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
and the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 
Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 2011 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3245935 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

20/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that the main issues are i) the impact of 
the proposal upon the character of the surrounding area ii) the 
impact of the proposal upon the amenity of future occupiers and 
whether the proposal would be tantamount to a separate means of 
accommodation and iii) the impact of the proposal upon the amenity 
of neighbouring occupiers.  
 
The Inspector noted that the appeal site is a semi-detached 
residential dwelling which stands at a right angle to the properties to 
the North and South. The proposal occupies the full length of the 

Page 116



Southern boundary of the appeal site. The building is visible in views 
from the open green space to the South West but, given its 
orientation, did not find it particularly notable from the public domain 
as the scale is not particularly evident in views from this angle.  
 
He noted that the design is not out of keeping with other structures 
in the area, and goes onto define ‘Character’ by a number of factors 
including layout and spacing.  He noted that the scale of the 
structure results in a large area of the appeal site being covered in 
built form which, in turn, results in a smaller garden than those 
characteristically found within the surrounding area.. But due to 
generally limited public views, he did not find the scale of the 
proposal to impact on the appearance of the area to an extent which 
would warrant refusal, but  he did consider the proposal 
overdevelops the site to the detriment of the character of the 
surrounding area contrary to Policy EN1.  
 
The Inspector note that the proposal would not provide a poor 
standard of living for future occupiers given it is proposed as an 
outbuilding to an existing residential dwelling. Whilst he 
acknowledged the Council’s concerns about  the proposal being 
tantamount to a separate means of accommodation, which could be 
accessed around the side of the house, this could be overcome with 
the application of a condition. 
 
In regards to the impact upon the amenity of neighbouring 
properties, he notes that from no. 24, next door the ground level 
stands at a lower land level than the appeal site and that it projects 
above the existing wall and is on the boundary. He continues that 
the overall height, location on the boundary itself and differing site 
levels results in a prominent, overbearing, structure which extends 
along the entire boundary with no. 24, which will result in an 
unacceptable impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of no. 24 to 
the detriment of the enjoyment of their garden.  
 
The Inspector concludes that No. 28 already benefits from 
extensions and permitted development is not a genuine, fallback in 
this instance and can be attributed little weight.  The proposal 
dismissed and would be contrary to Policy EN1 and SPD. 
 
Officer Note: This application is retrospective and an enforcement 
appeal has already been determined at the site. As such, the subject 
outbuilding must now be removed from site. 

 
 
 

Site 305-307 Feltham Hill Road, Ashford, TW15 1LT 

Page 117



Planning 
Application No: 

19/01570/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

The erection of 3x2 bedroom terraced dwellings and 2x2 bedroom 
detached dwellings with associated parking and amenity space 
following demolition of existing dwellings 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed development by reason of location, layout and design, 
would have an unacceptable impact upon the character of the area, 
the surrounding street scene and pattern of development. The 
scheme would introduce two isolated 'backland' style dwellings with 
no street frontage. As a result the development would not pay due 
regard to the characteristics of adjoining buildings and land and 
would not be sympathetic to the local character and surrounding 
built environment.  The layout of the development would also result 
in poor functionality in terms of refuse collection, and landscaping 
would not be provided to the front of the dwellings labelled 'H3' and 
'H5'.  The access road would also have a detrimental impact upon 
the occupiers of no.309 Feltham Hill Road.  The proposal is 
therefore contrary to the objectives of Policy EN1 of the Spelthorne 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and 
the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of Residential 
Extensions and New Residential Development (2011) and the 
NPPF. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3249419 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

23/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that there were two main issues 
surrounding the appeal proposal i) the impact upon the character 
and appearance of the area ii) the living conditions of the occupiers 
of neighbouring properties. 
 
The Inspector noted that the site was in a residential area and that 
the scheme proposed 3 terraced dwellings at the front of the site 
and 2 detached dwellings at the rear within the current gardens.  It 
was further noted that a new access would be constructed adjacent 
to the shared boundary with 309 Feltham Hill Road and 1A Goffs 
Road.   
 
The Inspector acknowledged that are examples of backland 
dwellings in close proximity to the site.  However, Chalet Close has 
the character of dwellings fronting a cul-de-sac and the dwellings at 
70 Junction Road involved the redevelopment of a previously 
developed site, namely a church hall.  As there are backland 

Page 118



dwellings in the area, the Inspector considered that the proposed 
dwellings at the rear of the site would respect the character of the 
area in principle. 
 
However, the Inspector considered that the design and layout of the 
proposed development would not be the type of high quality and 
layout sought by the NPPF.  There would be a poor relationship 
between study windows serving 3 of the dwellings and the proposed 
parking areas.  There would also be a poor level of outlook and 
parking and maneuvering areas would exceed 50% of the width of 
the frontage at two of the plots.    
 
The Inspector noted that cycle parking was in a single facility at the 
rear of the site and would be inconvenient and raised concerns no 
details have been provided for a refuse collection point.  Whilst 
these details could be dealt with by condition, the Inspector 
considered that the do add to the concerns over the layout. 
 
As such, which the Inspector considered that the form of a backland 
development would be acceptable, this is outweighed by the poor 
design and layout of the appeal scheme.  It was therefore 
considered that the proposal would conflict with policy EN1. 
 
With regard to the living conditions of neighbouring properties, the 
Inspector noted that the rear elevations of no.309 Feltham Hill Road 
and 1A Goffs Road are sited close to the shared boundary with the 
application site.  The Inspector considered that there would be 
inadequate separation distance between the vehicular access and 
manoeuvring space and the rear elevations of these properties that 
would result in an unacceptable impact upon living conditions by 
reason of noise and disturbance, which would conflict with the 
purposes of policy EN1. 
 
The Inspector noted that the Council was unable to demonstrate a 5 
year housing supply, although considered that the provision of 3 
additional dwellings would not outweigh the harm of the scheme 
when assessed against the Framework as a whole.  The appeal was 
therefore dismissed. 

 
 
 

Site 122 Ashridge Way, Sunbury On Thames, TW16 7RR 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00158/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of a front porch, a single storey and part two storey rear 
extension with a Juliet balcony. Loft alterations that would include a 

Page 119



hip to gable alteration, the installation of a rear facing dormer with a 
Juliet balcony, and 2no. roof lights within the front roof slope. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed development in terms of its design, scale and location 
is considered not to respect the proportions of the existing dwelling 
house, and will appear unacceptably out of scale which would 
therefore fail to respect the character of the area contrary to Policy 
EN1 of the Spelthorne Development Plan Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and the Council's 
Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 
Supplementary Planning Document (2011). 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3253735 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

24/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that the proposed development would 
significantly increase the size and bulk of the host property. It would 
result in an uncharacteristic form of residential development when 
compared to the dwellings within the surrounding area. The 
Inspector noted that although there are individual fallback positions 
to which significant weight is given in the determination of this 
appeal, the proposed development has been assessed on its own 
circumstances. Accordingly, this is a case where the cumulative 
scale of the individual elements forming part of the proposed 
development would result in a physically and visually dominant 
addition to the property rather than being a subordinate extension. 
The Inspector concluded that the proposed development would 
cause unacceptable harm to the character, appearance of the host 
property and the surrounding area. As such, it would conflict with 
Policy EN1 of the Spelthorne Development Plan Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document and the SPD. 

 
 
 

Site 6-8 Wolsey Road, Ashford, TW15 2RB 

Planning 
Application No: 

19/01201/FUL 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of a 2nd floor extension to create an additional 1 no. 2 bed 
unit, alteration to approved 1 no. 1 bed duplex unit, external 
alterations, and provision of associated cycle parking and refuse 
storage. 

Page 120



Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposal would, by reason of design, scale and location, would 
appear visually obtrusive and out of character with the surrounding 
street scene, not paying due regard to the design of the host 
building. It would have negative impact and fail to make a positive 
contribution to the surrounding area.  The proposal is, therefore, 
contrary to Policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009, 
the Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of Residential 
Extensions and New Residential Development 2011 and the NPPF 
2019. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/W/20/3245241 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

27/11/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector considered that the main issue was the effect of the 
development on the character and appearance of the host building 
and surrounding area.  
 
He noted that the site comprises a commercial building which has 
undergone external alterations and conversion works to provide 9 
flats and that the general character of the area is  two storey houses 
with pitched roofs, He notes that the appeal building’s appearance 
therefore contrasts with nearby housing, but its massing when 
viewed from the road fits readily into the street scene, with eaves 
levels higher than those at adjacent houses, but with a lower overall 
heigh and the building has a simple form reflective of its previous 
use.. The Inspector says that the proposal to introduce two front 
facing dormers into a second floor pitched roof with gable ends 
would not be sympathetic to the design of the original building, the 
dormers would appear as incongruous elements unrelated to the 
present form of the building or reflective of other buildings in the 
street scene.  
 
He goes on to state that although the overall height of the enlarged 
building would be comparable to that of nearby houses, the width 
and massing of development at second floor level would be 
considerably greater than that of the ridges to adjacent hipped roofs. 
The rear flat roofed elements to both gable ends would be bulky 
additions, conspicuous in oblique views across the facing hipped 
roofs to nos. 4 and 10.  Therefore he concludes that, ‘…The 
proposal would appear as an obtrusive feature, unsympathetic to the 
host building, out of keeping with the character of the road and 
detrimental to the appearance of the street scene.’ It would thereby 
conflict with Policy EN1 and the SPD which provides guidance for 
schemes to be in keeping with and to make a positive contribution to 
the character of an area.  

Page 121



 
The Inspector notes that despite the tilted balance and the fact that 
the proposal would provide an additional dwelling in a sustainable 
location,  Paragraph 127 (c) of the NPPF requires planning 
decisions to ensure that developments “are sympathetic to local 
character and history, including the surrounding built environment 
and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities)”. He 
goes on to conclude that the building has already provided 9 
dwellings in an innovative way towards meeting housing need and 
the adverse impact on the character of the area arising from the 
current proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefit of providing a tenth unit, when assessed against the policies 
in the Framework taken as a whole. 

 
 
 

Site 18 Junction Rd, Ashford, TW15 1NQ 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00544/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of side extension with a gable end element that would have 
a similar height as the bungalow, the erection of a single storey rear 
extension and loft conversion including the installation of a 2 no rear 
facing dormers and 5 no rooflights to the front slope to provide 
additional habitable accommodation (following demolition of existing 
conservatory and partial demolition of a garage at the rear). 
Proposed new access via Junction Road. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed rear dormers by reason of its scale, position, design, 
and prominence would be visually obtrusive in the street scene and 
would have an unacceptable impact on the character of the area. 
The development is therefore contrary to policy EN1 of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 and the Supplementary Planning 
Document on the Design of Residential Extensions and New 
Residential Development 2011. 
 
The proposed side extension by reason of its design, scale and 
proportion, would have an unacceptable impact on the character of 
the area and on the character of the paired bungalow. The proposed 
development would appear as over dominant and would be visually 
obtrusive in the street scene. The development is therefore contrary 
to policy EN1 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 and the 
Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of Residential 
Extensions and New Residential Development 2011. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3258989 

Page 122



Appeal Decision 
Date: 

01/12/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Planning Inspector acknowledged that the surrounding area had 
a varied residential character number of the properties extending at 
roof level as such she took a view that the roofspace within the area 
was diverse. However, the Planning Inspector considered that the 
proposed single storey side extension’s ridge line of the roof would 
be significantly extended to form a gable end which would add a 
large addition. Thus, she took a view that this element would not 
respect the original form and scale of the host property to which it 
would not be subordinate. Furthermore, she considered that the 
wider front elevation including the formation a gable end would 
unbalance the pair of semi-detached properties and that the 
symmetry between these properties would be lost. Given the 
prominent corner location, the Planning Inspector took a view that 
the formation of a gable end, so close to the boundary, would 
appear as an intrusive feature which would erode at the spacious 
character of the area. Furthermore, the Inspector considered that 
the use of matching material would not overcome the harm arising 
from the shape, bulk and proximity of this gable end to the junction.   
 
At the rear of the extended roof, the Planning Inspector considered 
that the two large dormers extensions with their combined width and 
limited set in from the edges of the rood, would make them appear 
as bulky and dominant additions to the host property.     
 
Consequently, Planning Inspector found the proposal to be harmful 
to the character and appearance of the area and considered 
therefore be contrary to Policy EN1 of the DPD, the SPD and NPPF. 

 
 
 

Site 102 Windmill Road, Sunbury on Thames, TW16 7HB 

Planning 
Application No: 

20/00640/HOU 

Proposed 
Development: 

The creation of a vehicular crossover. 

Reasons for 
Refusal: 

The proposed vehicle crossover by reason of its location would lead 
to the creation of a new access to Windmill Road (A244) to the lack 
of space within the site to turn a vehicle, the development would 
result in reversing movements either off of or onto Windmill Road, 
an 'A' class distributor road, which could compromise the safety and 

Page 123



free flow of highway users. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
policy CC2 of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework, 2019. 

Appeal 
Reference: 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3258584 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 

02/12/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Planning Inspector acknowledged that the appeal property was 
located on a classified A road (A244) which was identified as a busy 
urban throughfare as such described as reasonably high flows of 
traffic. Planning Inspector noted that the during her site visit it was 
observed less traffic level. She however took a view that this was 
probably due to the restricted travel to Covid-19 restrictions and that 
she suggested that the road was reasonably busy and traffic was 
moving at speed. Whilst the she noted that the appeal property’s 
front garden of existing hardstanding was wide enough to 
accommodate up to two vehicles parked alongside each other, the 
Planning Inspector however took a view that this would not provide 
adequate space for vehicles to turn which would lead reversing onto 
or off the busy highway when vehicles to enter or exit the site.  
 
Whilst the Planning Inspector agreed that the wide footpath provides 
good visibility of the carriageway in both directions, she however 
took a view that drivers existing the site in reverse would be 
positioned further from the carriageway. The Inspector also noted 
that the visibility to the north is restricted by a high fence which is 
land outside the appellants’ control. Thus, it would reduce visibility of 
pedestrians using the footpath to drivers. Due to the restricted 
visibility, the Planning Inspector noted that the drivers would need to 
cross the footpath between any cars parked on it and the cycle path 
and enter the flow of traffic in reverse gear. Therefore, she 
considered that this would significantly increase the risk of collisions 
between users of the highway including adding additional risk by 
potential reversing movements across the traffic when travel south. 
 
Whilst the Planning Inspector gave regards to the Public Sector 
Equality Duty contained in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and 
to the appellant’s statement of case included personal reasons for 
the need of crossover, she however found that the wider public 
interest and the potential for an increased risk to the safety of the 
highway users outweighed these benefits. 
 
This leaded the Inspector to concur with the Council and County 
Highway Officer’ views. 

Page 124



 
Consequently, the Planning Inspector considered that the proposal 
would be significantly harmful to highway safety and would therefore 
conflict with Policy CC2 of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document and the NPPF, which only 
permits development that is compatible with the transport 
infrastructure taking into account highway safety and access and 
egress to the public highway. 

 
 
 
 

Site 
 

7 Conway Drive 
Ashford 
TW15 1RQ 

 

Planning 
Application No.: 
 

20/00690/HOU 
 

Proposed 
Development: 

Erection of a two storey side and single storey front extension (following 
demolition of existing garage). 

Reason for 
Refusal 
 

The proposed two storey side extension, by virtue of its scale, location 
and design would immediately adjoin the side boundary and would 
reduce the visual gap between the application dwelling and no 9 
Conway Drive creating a terracing effect. The proposal would appear out 
of character with the surrounding area where there are gaps between 
dwellings and would harm the character and appearance of Conway 
Drive. It would therefore be contrary to policy EN1 of the Spelthorne 
Development Plan Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009 and the Council's Supplementary Planning Document 
for the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development, 2011, and the NPPF. 

Appeal 
Reference: 
 

APP/Z3635/D/20/3259468 
 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 
 

02/12/2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 
 

Appeal Dismissed  

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Planning Inspector acknowledged that the area surrounding the 
appeal site was characterized by semi-detached properties separated 
from each other by a gap which provided a visual break between 
buildings and as such this contributed to the spacious character of the 
area. The Planning Inspector considered that the proposed two storey 
side development would infill the gap between no 7 and the adjoining 
property which had previously been extended up to the boundary. 

Page 125



Furthermore, she concluded that this would make the two adjacent pairs 
of semi-detached properties appear as a terrace which would be 
uncharacteristic of this part of the road and would provide an 
unbalanced appearance.  
 
Consequently, Planning Inspector found the proposal to be harmful to 
the character and appearance of the area and considered therefore be 
contrary to Policy EN1 of the DPD, the SPD and NPPF.  

 
 

Page 126


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Planning Application No. 20/00802/FUL - Car Park to rear of Tesco, Ashford Hospital, London Road, Ashford, TW15 3AA
	Application No. 20/00802/FUL - Car Park to rear of Tesco, Ashford Hospital, London Road, Ashford, TW15 3AA - Report
	Application No. 20/00802/FUL - Car Park to rear of Tesco, Ashford Hospital, London Road, Ashford, TW15 3AA - Appendices

	5 Planning Application No. 20/00876/HOU - 18 Riverside Close, Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW
	Application No. 20/00876/HOU - 18 Riverside Close, Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW - Report
	Application No. 20/00876/HOU - 18 Riverside Close, Staines upon Thames, TW18 2LW - Appendices

	6 Planning Appeals Report



